
CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL 
NOVEMBER 13, 2017 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
A meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, will be held on 
Monday, November 13, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, 
Cedarburg, WI, in the second floor Council Chambers.  
               

AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  - Mayor Kip Kinzel 

 
2. MOMENT OF SILENCE 

 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  
4.        ROLL CALL:  Present – 

 
 
 
Excused -  

Common Council – Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council Members   
John Czarnecki, Jack Arnett, Dick Dieffenbach, Rick 
Verhaalen, Patricia Thome, Mike O’Keefe 
 
Council Member Mitch Regenfuss 
 

5. STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES* - October 30, 2017 
 
7. COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS** Comments from citizens on a 

listed agenda item will be taken when the item is addressed by the Council.  At this time 
individuals can speak on any topic not on the agenda for up to 5 minutes, time 
extensions at the discretion of the Mayor.  No action can be taken on items not listed 
except as a possible referral to committees, individuals or a future Council agenda item. 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
* A. Consider and discuss the proposed 2018 City budget; and direction or action 

thereon 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
* A. Consider award of engineering design contract for the 2018 Street and Utility 

Project; and action thereon (Public Works and Sewerage Comm. 11/09/17) 
 
* B. Consider Ordinance No. 2017-23 repealing and recreating Sec. 5-2 of the 

Municipal Code of Ordinances relating to Fire Prevention and Protection; and 
action thereon 

  
* C. Consider payment of bills for the period 10/27/17 through 11/03/17, transfers for 

the period 10/28/17 through 11/09/17, and payroll for the period 10/22/17 through 
11/04/17; and action thereon 

Packet Page 1 of 156



 
*** D. Consider License Applications; and action thereon 
    
   1. Consider approval of new Operators License application for the period 

ending June 30, 2018 for Polly H. Partain; and action thereon 
 
10.       REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 
* A. Administrator’s Report 
  1. Third Quarter Financial Report 
* B. Building Inspector’s Report – October 2017 
   
11. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
** A. Comments and suggestions from citizens 
 B. Comments and announcements by Council Members  

C. Mayor’s Report  
 
12.     ADJOURNMENT – CLOSED SESSION 
 

It is anticipated the Common Council will adjourn to closed session pursuant to State 
Statutes 19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the 
investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business whenever 
competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, more specifically, to 
consider cellular tower leases for location on the monopole being constructed on 
Western Avenue.  Approval of October 30, 2017 closed session minutes. 

 
13. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Individual members of various boards, committees, or commissions may attend the above meeting.  It 
is possible that such attendance may constitute a meeting of a City board,  committee or commission 
pursuant to State ex. rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, 173 Wis. 2d 553, 494 NW 2d 408 (1993).  
This notice does not authorize attendance at either the above meeting or the Badke Meeting, but is 
given solely to comply with the notice requirements of the open meeting law. 

 
* Information attached for Council; available through City Clerk’s Office.   
** Citizen comments should be primarily one-way, from citizen to the Council.  Each citizen who wishes to 

speak   shall be accorded one opportunity at the beginning of the meeting and one opportunity at the end 
of the meeting.  Comments should be kept brief.  If the comment expressed concerns a matter of public 
policy, response from the Council will be limited to seeking information or acknowledging that the citizen 
has been understood.  It is out of order for anyone to debate with a citizen addressing the Council or for 
the Council to take action on a matter of public policy.  The Council may direct that the concern be placed 
on a future agenda.  Citizens will be asked to state their name and address for the record and to speak 
from the lectern for the purposes of recording their comments. 

*** Information available through the Clerk’s Office. 
 

UPON REASONABLE NOTICE, EFFORTS WILL BE MADE TO 
ACCOMMODATE THE NEEDS OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (262) 375-7606 

11/09/17                                              E-MAIL:  cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us 

Packet Page 2 of 156

mailto:cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us


CITY OF CEDARBURG 
SPECIAL COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

NOVEMBER 14, 2017 – 7:00 P.M. 
 
A special meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, will be 
held on Tuesday, November 14, 2017, at 7:00 p.m. at  City Hall, W63 N645 Washington 
Avenue, Cedarburg, WI, in the second floor Council Chambers. 
              

AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  - Mayor Kip Kinzel 

 
  
2.        ROLL CALL:         Present – 

 
 
 
 

Common Council – Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council 
Members John Czarnecki, Jack Arnett, Dick 
Dieffenbach, Rick Verhaalen, Council Member 
Mitch Regenfuss, Patricia Thome, Mike O’Keefe 

3. STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

4. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Hearing on complaint against Class “B” beer and “Class B” liquor license of 
Steven Walter Banas d/b/a August Weber Haus at W63 N678 Washington 
Avenue; and action thereon 

 
5. ADJOURNMENT - CLOSED SESSION 
 

It is anticipated the Common Council will adjourn to closed session pursuant to 
State Statutes 19.85(1)(a) to deliberate concerning a case which is the subject of 
any judicial or quasi-judicial trial or hearing before the Common Council.   

 
6. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
 

The Common Council reserves the right to reconvene to open session to take 
action on matters discussed in closed session. 

 
7. Set forth findings and decision regarding complaint against Class “B” beer and 

“Class B” liquor license of Steven Walter Banas d/b/a August Weber Haus at 
W63 N678 Washington Avenue. 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page 3 of 156



Individual members of various boards, committees, or commissions may attend the above 
meeting.  It is possible that such attendance may constitute a meeting of a City board,  
committee or commission pursuant to State ex. rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, 173 Wis. 
2d 553, 494 NW 2d 408 (1993).  This notice does not authorize attendance at either the above 
meeting or the Badke Meeting, but is given solely to comply with the notice requirements of the 
open meeting law. 

 
 

 
 

UPON REASONABLE NOTICE, EFFORTS WILL BE MADE TO 
ACCOMMODATE THE NEEDS OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (262) 375-7606 

E-MAIL: cityhall@ci.cedarurg.wi.us   
 

 
 
 
11/09/17 ckm 

Packet Page 4 of 156



 CITY OF CEDARBURG     CC201701030-1 

                                                             COMMON COUNCIL UNAPPROVED 

October 30, 2017 

        

A regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, was held on 

Monday, October 30, 2017, at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, second floor, Council 

Chambers.   Mayor Kinzel called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

ROLL CALL: Present  -  Common Council:   Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council Members John 

Czarnecki, Jack Arnett, Dick Dieffenbach, Rick Verhaalen, Mitch 

Regenfuss, Patricia Thome, Mike O’Keefe  

  

                       Also Present - City Administrator/Treasurer Christy Mertes, Director of Engineer 

and Public Works Tom Wiza, Police Captain Glenn Lindberg, City 

Clerk Constance McHugh, City Assessor Cathy Timm, Wastewater 

Superintendent Eric Hackert, Director of Parks, Recreation and 

Forestry Mikko Hilvo, Library Director Linda Pierschalla, Light and 

Water General Manager Dale Lythjohan, Building Inspector Mike 

Baier, City Forester Kevin Westphal, Public Works Superintendent 

Joel Bublitz, several employees from all City Departments, City 

Attorney Michael Herbrand; Library Board President Sue Karlman, 

Library Board Members Debra Goeks, Dewayna Cherrington, and 

Sherry Bublitz, Todd Taves of Ehlers & Associates; interested 

citizens and news media 

 

STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 

 

At Mayor Kinzel’s request, City Clerk McHugh verified that notice of this meeting was provided to 

the public by forwarding the agenda to the City’s official newspaper, the News Graphic, to all news 

media and citizens who requested copies, and by posting in accordance with the Wisconsin Open 

Meetings law.  Citizens present were welcomed and encouraged to provide their input during the 

citizen comment portion of the meeting. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Council Member Verhaalen said the words “do not” should be added to the ninth paragraph on page 

13 of the October 9, 2017 minutes so it reads:  “Council Member Verhaalen said that you do not 

need arborists to take down dead trees because of the liability”. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member O’Keefe, to approve the 

minutes of the October 9, 2017 Common Council meeting as amended.  Motion carried 

unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 5 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-2 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

PUBLIC HEARING – PRESENTATION OF THE PROPOSED 2018 CITY BUDGET AND 

HEALTH INSURANCE OPTIONS; DISCUSSION AND DIRECTION 

 

Mayor Kinzel opened the public hearing at 7:02 p.m. to receive comments and input regarding the 

proposed 2018 budget. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes presented a summary of the proposed 2018 budget: 

 The proposed increase in the tax levy is 3.4%, or $314,033; 

 The 2017 growth allowed for a levy increase of $194,031, which would keep the same tax 

rate; the levy limit will allow an increase of $611,842, or an additional $297,809 over what 

is currently proposed; 

 For every $12,489 added to the budget the rate will increase $0.01;  

 The assessed value increased from $1.222 billion to $1.249 billion, which is a $27 million 

increase, or 2.2%; 

 

Major General Fund changes from 2017: 

 A 2% wage increase on January 1 for non-protective employees and a 2.5% increase for 

protective employees; 

 An 8% increase in health and dental insurance is budgeted ($48,338); 

 A 2%, or $12,358, increase in the Waste Management contract, which also includes 

collection for new residences; 

 $10,000 of the $20,000 annual funding for a revaluation has been restored; 

 The transfer to other funds is $137,500 ($100,000 is for Fire Department repairs and 

$25,000 is for the senior van in capital improvements).  Both are uses of fund balance; 

 Property taxes, including the Light and Water payment in lieu of taxes, comprises 78% of 

the General Fund revenues; 

 General Fund expenditures are increasing $329,108 ($162,217 for salaries, $48,338 for  

health insurance, and $39,637 for contractual services makes up a majority of the increase); 

 2018 use of fund balance includes $10,600 for bathroom upgrades in parks; $11,500 for 

swimming pool projects; $10,000 for handguns, $15,000 for the branding project, and a 

$125,000 transfer to the Capital Improvements Fund for Fire Department repairs and the 

senior van; for a total transfer of $172,100; 

 The City’s policy requires that 2-3 months of expenditures should be on hand in case of an 

emergency.  The budget is well within this policy. 

 

Capital Improvement Fund – Five Year Funding Plan 

 The levy is decreasing $237,000, or $20%; 

 The capital improvement fund levy is 10% of the total levy; 

 An additional $297,811 increase in the levy is allowed by the State levy limit and could be 

used to reduce borrowing for street projects.  The tax rate would increase from $7.55 to 

$7.79, or $0.24, which is a $91 increase on a $276,000 home; 

 The reserves have been depleted since 2008 to get through tough times and to keep the tax 

rate increase at zero or very low. Now the Council must levy the full amount necessary to 

fund purchases/projects rather than keeping it level from year to year and avoiding the 

expenditure restraint issue; 

Packet Page 6 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-3 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

 Public Works equipment, streets, and storm sewers make up the majority of expenditures 

each year (51% for 2018); 

 

Proposed Capital Projects are: 

 $10,000 is budgeted for environmental issues; 

 Impact fees being transferred to offset debt service total $58,741; 

 Dam repairs are $500,000; 

 Cemetery mausoleum repairs are $7,000; 

 Monopole construction is $300,000 

 Emergency Management siren replacement is $22,000 and pickup truck replacement is 

$50,000; 

 Five yard dump truck with plow wing and salter ($225,000) was moved to 2019. Added was 

a one ton dump truck at $75,000. A mini excavator and trailer have been added back to 

2018; 

 Storm sewer projects are $267,276; 

 Street projects are $1,123,000; 

 Fire Department:  Concrete apron is $42,000; asphalt pavement is $100,000; and flag pole 

and planter is $40,000.  The apron and pavement projects are from 2017; 

 Parks, Recreation and Forestry:  Mower is $62,000; standing mower is $8,000; Adlai Horn 

Park water service is $20,000; and park improvements including a shelter at Prairie View 

Park, a storage shed at Behling field, and playground platforms at Willowbrooke Park are 

$199,000; 

 Senior Center van is $25,000 (paid for through donations and rider fees); 

 Police Department:  Vehicle (3) replacements are $120,000 and 911 system upgrade is 

$40,000.  Total cost of the upgrade is $80,000 and is split between 2018 and 2019. 

 

Debt Service 

 The debt service levy is increasing $217,931, or 17%, mainly due to Library residual funds 

spent in full in 2017; 

 The debt service levy is 15.9% of the total levy; 

 The City has $16,070,455 in outstanding debt; 

 The debt is at 24.07% of the statutory limit, with additional debt capacity of $50 million 

available, and at 30.09% of the City policy, with additional debt capacity of $37 million. 

 

Special Revenue Funds 

 Cemetery (continues to use fund balance into 2018); 

 Room tax (budget remains the same as 2017); 

 Recreation Programs (budget includes $13,182 use of fund balance for a portion of school 

district fees.  Director Hilvo will be requesting the use of fund balance in 2017 for the pool 

deficit); 

 Swimming Pool (revenues are down 6.7% and expenditures are down 6%.  There is a 6% 

increase in tax levy, plus the capital improvements funding from the General Fund fund 

balance); 

 Park sub-divider deposit fund ($70,000 transfer to Capital Improvements for Prairie 

View shelter). 

Packet Page 7 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-4 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Special Revenue Fund – Library 

 The 2018 proposed levy is $732,194; 

 The library levy is 7.8% of the total levy; 

 Revenues are increasing 3.94%; expenditures are increasing 3.94%; 

 A positive fund balance is projected for 2017 and into 2018; 

 The City levy is increasing $24,888 to cover wage and benefit increases; 

 The County revenue payment is increasing $21,185; 

 There is an increase in the personnel budget of 3.6% and operating costs are increasing 

5.2%. 

 

Water Recycling Center 

 The Water Recycling Center is not supported by taxes but user fees. 

 The flow rate proposed is $5.30 per 1,000 gallons, up from $5.22 in 2017; 

 The holding tank hauler rate is to remain the same ($8.70 per 1,000 gallons): 

 The septic tank hauler rate is to remain the same ($44.91 per 1,000 gallons); 

 The monthly connection fee is to remain the same ($14); 

 Revenue and expenses are 1% less than 2017. 

 

Proposed Tax Rate 

 Equalized tax rate proposed is $7.21 per $1,000, $0.06 or 0.9% decrease; 

 Assessed tax rate proposed is $7.55 per $1,000, $0.09 or 1.2% increase; 

 $25 increase on a home assessed at $276,000; 

 If the levy is increased by the allowable limit of $297,811, the rate tax rate would increase to 

$7.79 per $1,000, for a total increase of $0.33/1,000 or $91 on a home assessed at $276,000. 

 

Potential Changes 

 Property insurance – a quote was received today that may save $6,000.  Further review is 

required; 

 Contingency reserve $240,000.  To get the most out of the expenditure restraint program it is 

necessary to increase the reserve account.  It would not be used, and if needed, any use 

would have to be authorized by the Council; 

 Increase the levy to reduce borrowing. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach asked if the revaluation and 911 system upgrade are pre-funded.  City 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes confirmed both items are pre-funded. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach asked if expenditure restraint funds will be lost next year.  City 

Administrator/Treasurer said expenditure restraints funds will be lost in 2018 but should be 

reinstated in 2019. 

 

Council Member Arnett asked if inclusion of the senior van in the budget that is paid for by fees and 

donations is a wash.  City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said this is correct; it is basically an 

accounting entry. 

 

Packet Page 8 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-5 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Council Member Arnett said he thought the budgeted amount of $300,000 was high for the 

monopole construction.  City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said the bids came in at $291,000. 

 

Council Member Arnett said Emergency Management is requesting the purchase of a truck at 

$50,000.  He asked whether the vehicle to be purchased will be new, and if so, he suggested a used 

vehicle be considered.  City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said the vehicle will be new. This 

purchase has been pushed back for several years. 

 

Council Member Arnett said fund balance in the amount of $13,182 will be used to cover a portion 

of School District fees.  He encouraged holding as many of these programs as possible at City-

owned facilities. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes discussed health insurance options with the Council.  She said 

the budget includes an 8% increase in health insurance costs for the same coverage as 2017.  She 

said the original proposed budget included a 10% increase and the initial quote was for a 12% 

increase; however, the City’s consultant was able to negotiate a lower increase. Another option was 

provided by the consultant that would increase the deductible from $2,000/$4,000 to $3,000/$6,000. 

 

Presented to the Council was an employee payment history example that shows that the take home 

pay for an employee in 2017 is less than the take home pay in 2008.  Part of the reason for this is 

the Act 10 requirement that employees pay a portion of their retirement.  The employee 

contributions are mandatory with no opt out provision or ability to change the percentage 

contributed offered by the State.  In addition, several changes in employee benefits and salaries 

were made since 2008, including: 

 Establishment in 2008 of a high deductible health insurance plan (HDHP) with a 

$1,500/$3,000 contribution to a health saving account (HSA) by the City; 

 Sick leave accrual hours per month were reduced in 2011 from 10 to 8; 

 Starting in 2013 longevity is not paid to employees until after 10 years of service (current 

employees are grandfathered); 

 Elimination of the HSA contribution in 2014; 

 Dental insurance coverage for orthodontia was reduced in 2014 from unlimited to $1,500; 

 Double time was lost for Sundays in 2014. It is now time and a half; 

 Starting in 2014 there has been no overtime for off hour jobs, such as downtown snow 

removal.  Instead the City changes the schedule for employees with notice. 

 The health insurance deductible was increased to $2,000/$4,000 in 2015. 

 

DPW employees have always been on call for holidays and weekends without pay. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes presented a health insurance comparison prepared by the City 

of Hartford.  Besides Cedarburg, Hartford and Chippewa Falls do not require an employee 

contribution towards health insurance.  A survey presented from the Wisconsin City/County 

Management Association (WCMA) indicated that several communities do require employee 

contributions towards health insurance but many of those communities reimburse employees for the 

deductible and/or contribute towards a HSA.  Only one community had a higher deductible than the 

City of Cedarburg.  She said estimating a $2,000/month premium; an employee on the State health 

Packet Page 9 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-6 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

insurance plan pays $2,880/year for a $1,000 or $0 deductible; for a total of $2,880-$3,880.  

Cedarburg employees pay $4,000/year for the family deductible without a premium contribution. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes explained that according the Census Bureau, the household 

income increase in the U.S. in 2015 was 5.2% while household income increase in Cedarburg was 

2%.  In 2016 the U.S. increase was 3.2% while the City increase was 2%. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer said she and the Employee Health Insurance Committee are asking 

that the City remain with the WCA GHT health insurance plan as it exists today with no employee 

contribution towards the premium. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach said the Committee should continue to look into this matter in the 

upcoming year.  Most private sector employees do not have health insurance plans like the City 

offers.  He said there needs to be progress moving forward. 

 

Council Member Czarnecki agreed, and said employees contributing towards health insurance is a 

good start. 

 

Council Member Arnett said he reviewed his own coverage today.  He pays $510 a month for his 

single coverage that is increasing 44% to $734.  His deductible is $5,500 with an out-of-pocket 

maximum of $6,500 on top of the deductible.  He said he hopes employees appreciate the good deal 

in terms of health insurance. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said employees do realize it is a good benefit; however, City 

salaries are not increasing at the same level as the increase in U.S. household income. 

 

Mayor Kinzel said the whole package of salary and benefits needs to be compared. 

 

Council Member Thome suggested that over the course of next year City salaries and benefits be 

compared to other salaries and benefits in the public sector.  She said her daughter in the Green Bay 

School District has paid $11,000 towards health insurance so far this year.  She said the Council 

needs to know how City employees compare across the board. 

 

Council Member Arnett said Light and Water did a similar study and it was found that the pay was 

at or above market levels.  He said such a study will likely cost several thousand dollars. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach said a goal for 2018 should be to do a more detailed study of wages 

and benefits by the Employee Committee. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said it may be a good idea for the Personnel Committee to 

meet on a monthly basis. 

 

Council Member O’Keefe said he is not against the Personnel Committee meeting monthly.  He 

said that all wages and benefits must be compared. 

 

Packet Page 10 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-7 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Administrative Secretary Darla Drumel said she took a significant cut in pay when she joined the 

City.  She said she took the job because of the benefits offered.  She said it is disappointing that her 

salary is less than when she started. 

 

It was the consensus of the Council that the City remain with the WCA GHT health insurance plan 

for 2018 with the same level of benefits as 2017 and no employee contribution towards the 

premium. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach said the proposed increase in the tax rate is a problem.  He suggested 

reviewing items included in the 2018 budget that could possibly be pushed back to 2019.  He also 

said there are other options for the 911 upgrade. 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said the City has been pushing back the purchase of equipment 

for years and it only ends up costing more in the long run.  In addition, several Departments have 

endured staffing cuts over the years.  If certain items are not pre-funded, there will be large 

fluctuations in the budget from year to year. 

 

Mayor Kinzel suggested Council Members give concrete suggestions to City 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes to reduce the budget. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach challenged City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes to find $100,000 to 

eliminate from the budget. 

 

Council Member Thome said more and more is cut from the budget every year.  She said at what 

point is the Council cutting back too much. 

 

Council Member Czarnecki said he agrees with Council Member Dieffenbach.  He said it is not up 

to the Council to pick and choose items to remove from the budget.  Administration should be doing 

this. 

 

Sherry Bublitz, resident and Library Board Member, said she believes the City has lived too many 

years with no increase in the tax rate.  She said a $25 increase in City taxes is worth it.  She 

appreciates the services that are included in the budget.  The City needs to get out of the hole 

created by not increasing taxes for many years. 

 

Council Member Czarnecki asked what the amount is that is spent on the Library each year.  City 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said the Library budget, including operations and debt service, is 

$1.3 million. 

 

Council Member Czarnecki said he receives calls from residents about taxes going up.  He said staff 

needs to keep looking for ways to reduce the budget. 

 

Council Member Arnett encouraged Council Members to discuss cost reduction ideas with staff and 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes.  Council Member Thome agreed. 

 

Packet Page 11 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-8 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Police Officer Brian Emmrich said he is a member of the Village Board in Jackson.  He encouraged 

the Council to look at the years of experience by City employees in the room tonight that cannot be 

replaced.  He said the Employee Committee needs direction from the Council. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Czarnecki, to close the 

public hearing at 8:11 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

The Council will continue deliberations on the budget at the November 13 meeting with adoption at 

the November 27 meeting. 

 

CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2017-21 AMENDING SEC. 10-1-72(a) OF THE 

MUNICIPAL CODE TO PROHIBIT PARKING ON CENTER STREET ADJACENT TO 

THE INTERURBAN TRAIL CROSSING 

 

Director Wiza said the City has received complaints about poor sight distance at the Interurban Trail 

crossing on Center Street.  Because parking is at a premium in this area, providing good sight 

distance has to be balanced against the loss of street parking.  The proposed street parking revision 

will eliminate one and a half parking spaces while significantly improving the site distance.  This 

matter was discussed twice at the Public Works and Sewerage Commission level and the 

Commission recommended adoption of the proposed ordinance. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach said for the safety of bikers, pedestrians, and drivers, parking on 

Center Street needs to be restructured.  This is really a community issue because there is conflict 

between bikers and autos.  He is in favor of adopting the ordinance for safety reasons. 

 

Chris Velnetske, N57 W6766 Center Street, said it must be recognized that this is a parking issue.  

This issue should be coupled with the issue of parking on Hanover Avenue.  He said that he is 

interested in safety but also interested in alleviating parking congestion on Center Street Monday 

through Friday. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member O’Keefe, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2017-21 amending Sec. 10-1-72(a) of the Municipal Code to prohibit parking on 

Center Street adjacent to the Interurban Trail. 

 

Council Member Arnett said he is concerned about taking away more than one parking space.  He 

asked members of the audience if they agree that only 1.5 parking spaces are being taken away. 

 

Mary Ann Velnetske, N57 W6766 Center Street, said she disagrees.  She said two or more parking 

spaces will be lost if the requirement that there cannot be parking within 15’ of a crosswalk is 

enforced. 

 

Director Wiza said State Statutes dictate that there cannot be parking within 15’ of a crosswalk.  He 

said parking is at a premium and he is sensitive to the safety issue.  He said he has received calls 

from many residents who have asked if someone needs to be killed before something is done. 

 

Jason Peterson, N57 W6442 Center Street,  suggested Center Street be a one-way street.  Heather 

Latz of Rachel’s Roses agreed. 

Packet Page 12 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-9 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Director Wiza cautioned that one-way streets can have unintended consequences because the speed 

of vehicles tends to increase because there is no opposing traffic.  He said a full review of this 

would need to be done. 

 

With Council Members Czarnecki, Dieffenbach, Verhaalen, Regenfuss, Thome, and O’Keefe 

voting aye and Council Member Arnett voting nay, the motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2017-21 

carried. 

 

CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 2017-17 APPROVING THE PROJECT PLAN 

AND ESTABLISHING THE BOUNDARIES FOR AND THE CREATION OF TAX 

INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4, CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN 

 

Todd Taves of Ehlers said the action before the Council tonight is to approve Resolution 2017-17 

approving the Project Plan and establish the boundaries for and the creation of Tax Incremental 

District (TID) No. 4.  The initial Joint Review Board convened on October 16 and held an 

organizational meeting.  On October 16 the Community Development Authority (CDA) also met 

and held a public hearing on the proposed TID and unanimously recommended approval of its 

creation. 

 

Mr. Taves briefly reviewed the Project Plan.  TID No. 4 consists of three parcels and 8.42 

contaminated acres.  The site is the former Meta Mold Aluminum Company manufacturing site, 

also known as Amcast.  State Statutes require that 50% of the area be blighted in order to qualify for 

a blighted TID.  In this case 100% of the area is blighted. 

 

The City anticipates making total project expenditures of approximately $4.54 million, including 

$3.33 million in project incentive and assistance payments to a private developer, $1.04 million for 

long-term interest due on the associated debt obligation, $97,000 for finance related expenses and 

$84,000 for administrative expenses over the life of the District.  Costs to carry the debt are 

estimated to be $1.37 million with an expectation that the City will need to provide a net $337,766 

subsidy to cover the full amount of the interest payments due.  The District is expected to remain 

open for 27 years and create a minimum of $10,025,000 in incremental valuation.  It is expected 

that the District will not recover its project costs, and that the City will be providing an estimated 

$878,946 subsidy to the District consisting of the $337,766 debt service gap plus $541,180 in 

estimated interest accruals on both the recovered and unrecovered portion of advanced funds.  

 

Mr. Taves explained that there is a provision in the TIF law that allows for a three year extension of 

the TID if approved by the Joint Review Board and certified by the City’s auditors.  This would 

help to pay for some unrecovered costs. 

 

Council Member Thome asked if the City would be grandfathered if the TIF laws changes.  Mr. 

Taves said the City would only be grandfathered if an extension was granted prior to the law 

change. 

 

Council Member Arnett said the City levy for the TID debt and projects in 2019 is expected to be 

$242,388.  He said this seems lower than previously expected. 

 

Attorney Herbrand said this may be due to the timing of the development activities. 

Packet Page 13 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-10 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Council Member Arnett said the year one impact will be the worst.  The City will mostly recover 

the deficit after 27 years.  Mr. Taves said the debt can be structured to match the cash flow. 

 

Council Member Arnett asked if the development agreement has been signed.  Attorney Herbrand 

said the CDA must formally approve the development agreement.  The agreement is contingent 

upon the TID being created. 

 

Council Member O’Keefe asked if funds from an over-performing TID can be transferred to 

another TID. Mr. Taves explained that in some cases TIDs can be recipients of funds from other 

TIDs. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Regenfuss, to adopt 

Resolution No. 2017-17 approving the Project Plan and establishing the boundaries for and the 

creation of Tax Incremental District No. 4, City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin.  Motion carried with 

Council Members Arnett, Dieffenbach, Regenfuss, Thome, and O’Keefe voting aye and Council 

Members Czarnecki and Verhaalen voting nay. 

 

CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2017-22 AMENDING SEC. 10-1-28 OF THE MUNICIPAL 

CODE TO ESTABLISH FOUR HOUR PARKING ON THE WEST SIDE OF HANOVER 

AVENUE BEGINNING 18 FEET SOUTH OF THE PUBLIC LIBRARY DRIVEWAY AND 

CONTINUING SOUTH TO THE INTERSECTION WITH CENTER STREET, AND TO 

ESTABLISH FOUR HOUR PARKING ON THE EAST SIDE OF HANOVER AVENUE 

FROM THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CENTER STREET TO A POINT 175 

FEET TO THE NORTH, AND EXCEPTING THE EXISTING CODE REFERENCES TO 

TWO HOUR PARKING ON THESE SEGMENTS 

 

Director Wiza said there has been a request to establish four hour parking on parts of Hanover 

Avenue to free up parking spaces in front of the Ozaukee County Historical Society Depot building 

on Center Street.  The proposed ordinance creates four hour parking on Hanover Avenue between 

the Library driveway to Center Street on the west side and to the VIP driveway on the east side. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach said he talked to businesses in the area and most are ambivalent about 

this change.  He said he is not sure what it accomplishes. 

 

Mr. Velnetske said this opinion is not shared by the owner of Rachel’s Roses.  He said constituents 

on Center Street are not ambivalent about this.  He said there is overcrowding of parking on Center 

Street every day and as a result leaves are not picked up, residents are not able to have guests park 

directly in front of their homes, and drivers cannot see traffic or pedestrians.  He said Hanover 

Avenue is underutilized because it is limited to two hour parking.  He said this ordinance will 

alleviate parking congestion on Center Street, hurts no one, and will provide a benefit to residents 

on Center Street. 

 

Heather Latz said this change will allow employees of the LaBudde Group to park closer to their 

place of employment. 

 

Packet Page 14 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-11 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Council Member O’Keefe said he spoke to employees of the LaBudde Group and the owners of 

VIP.  He said no one had an issue with the proposed ordinance.  He said it will help alleviate 

parking problems on Center Street. 

 

Director Pierschalla said the Library Board does not have an issue with the proposed ordinance.  

She said parking near the Library will always be an issue. 

 

Council Member Arnett said he agrees with Council Member O’Keefe.  He suggested that there be 

eight hour parking on one side. 

 

Motion made by Council Member O’Keefe, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2017-02 amending Sec. 10-1-28 of the Municipal Code to establish four hour 

parking on the west side of Hanover Avenue beginning 18 feet south of the Public Library driveway 

and continuing south to the intersection with Center Street, and to establish four hour parking on the 

east side of Hanover Avenue from the north right-of-way line of Center Street to a point 175 feet to 

the north, and excepting the existing Code reference to two hour parking on these segments.  

Motion carried with Council Members Czarnecki, Arnett, Verhaalen, Regenfuss, Thome and 

O’Keefe voting aye and Council Member Dieffenbach voting nay. 

   

CONSIDER AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR PRECONSTRUCTION PRUNING OF 

STREET TREES 

 

Motion made by Council Member Regenfuss, seconded by Council Member Dieffenbach, to award 

the contract for preconstruction pruning of City trees to First Choice Tree Care in the amount of 

$20,700.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

DISCUSS INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS AND TIMING OF FUTURE 

HIGHWAY 60 BUSINESS PARK DEVELOPMENT 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said she and a group of City representatives comprised of  

Council Members Thome, Arnett, and Czarnecki, Director Wiza, Planner Censky, and Economic 

Development Coordinator Sheffield have been meeting to discuss future development at the 

Highway 60 Business Park.  Council Member Czarnecki drafted a flyer to get the word out about 

the business park and Director Wiza has developed infrastructure cost estimates.  Council Member 

Arnett said the group is trying to be proactive in the event a developer or developers are interested 

in the property. 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach suggested contacting the former Forward Cedarburg group, who is 

still involved with the business park. 

 

Council Member Czarnecki said the site needs to be marketed.  He said he will provide a list of 

brokerage firms that will make an effort to market the property.   Economic Development 

Coordinator Sheffield has a list of firms the brochure can be sent to. 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 15 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-12 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

CONSIDER FUNDING FOR CEDALIGHTS LED HOLIDAY LIGHTS PROGRAM  

 

Director Hilvo said the Festivals Board voted not to continue being responsible for the Cedalights 

program.  This is the program of placing LED holiday lights on the perimeter of some of the 

downtown buildings.  The program was initially managed by the Cultural Center and funded 

through Festivals.  Then he took the program over with help of members from Cedarburg Festivals.   

Festivals will consider funding it through their grant program in future years but is no longer willing 

to be responsible for it.  Light and Water is not able to provide any support staff but may be willing 

to provide funding. 

 

Director Hilvo said he has come up a plan to keep the program going.  He said that the Parks, 

Recreation and Forestry Department will be responsible for the program.  He, the Recreation 

Superintendent, and Office Manager will work with the Chamber and local businesses to determine 

which businesses need or want lights each year and will be responsible for inventory and ordering 

supplies.  The City will take care of the installation of lights and replacement of bulbs each year.  

The work will be done using park crew members (overtime) and City equipment.  Director Hilvo 

will then seek grants from Festivals and the Tourism, Promotion and Development Committee to 

cover the costs.   

 

Council Member Verhaalen said that while crew member time and equipment may be reimbursed, 

it does not sound like Director Hilvo and his office employees’ time will be.  He suggested that this 

time be kept track of. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member O’Keefe, to move forward 

with Director Hilvo’s plan to continue the program.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

The Council asked Director Hilvo to advise them if the program becomes a burden. 

 

CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 2017-18 DESIGNATING LIGHT & WATER CHECKING 

AND SAVINGS ACCOUNTS FOR THE ENSUING YEAR 
 

Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member Czarnecki, to 

approve Resolution No. 2017-18 designating Light & Water checking and savings accounts for the 

ensuing year.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

PAYMENT OF BILLS 

 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Czarnecki, to approve the 

payment of the bills for the period 10/05/17 through 10/20/17, transfers for the period 10/06/17 

through 10/27/17, and payroll for the period 09/24/17 through 10/07/17.  Motion carried 

unanimously. 

 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS 

 

Motion made by Council Member O’Keefe, seconded by Council Member Czarnecki, to authorize 

the issuance of a new Operators license for the period ending June 30, 2018 to Taylor M. Miller, 

Thomas J. Moes, Stacey L. Wedereit, and Miranda J. White.  Motion carried unanimously.   

Packet Page 16 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-13 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

Motion made by Council Member O’Keefe, seconded by Council Member Czarnecki, to authorize 

the issuance of a renewal Operators license for the period ending June 30, 2108 for Shaw H. 

Ruppel.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Motion made by Council Member O’Keefe, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to approve the 

application of Jody Schulz of Kettle Moraine Carriages, Inc., N612 Forest View Road, Kewaskum, 

WI for a Horse and Carriage license.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer said intern Lukas Jaeger will be with the City through November. 

 

COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

Council Member Thome said HeartSafe Wisconsin has issued a certificate to the City 

acknowledging that the City has successfully completed all requirements of a HeartSafe 

Community. 

 

Council Member Arnett said representatives from the selected branding company will be in the City 

December 12-14.  Focus group interviews will be held. 

 

Council Member O’Keefe said he would like to see an EAB update and cost estimates for possible 

weekly recycling pickup on a future agenda. 

 

Council Member O’Keefe commented that the downtown is dark in the evenings, making visibility 

at crosswalks difficult. 

 

Council Member Czarnecki said he has asked Planner Censky to draft an ordinance prohibiting 

signs with blinking LED lights. 

 

MAYOR’S REPORT 

 

Mayor Kinzel issued a proclamation proclaiming November 5, 2017 as Change Your Clock -  

Change Your Battery Day. 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to adjourn to 

closed session at 9:42 p.m. pursuant to State Statutes 19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the 

purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public 

business whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, more specifically, to 

consider a Developer’s Agreement with HSI regarding the St. Francis Borgia site. Approval of 

10/09/17 closed session minutes. Motion carried on a roll call vote with Council Members 

Czarnecki, Arnett, Dieffenbach, Verhaalen, Regenfuss, Thome and O’Keefe voting aye.   

 

 

 

Packet Page 17 of 156



COMMON COUNCIL CC20171030-14 

October 30, 2017 UNAPPROVED 

 

RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 

 

Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member Thome, to reconvene 

to open session at 9:58 p.m.  Motion carried on a roll call vote with Council Members Czarnecki, 

Arnett, Dieffenbach, Verhaalen, Regenfuss, Thome and O’Keefe voting aye. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

       

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to adjourn the 

meeting at 9:59 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

       Constance K. McHugh, MMC/WCPC 

       City Clerk 

 

 

Packet Page 18 of 156



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE:      November 13, 2017                                                           ITEM NO:  8. A. 

                           

 

TITLE:   Consider and discuss the proposed 2018 City budget; and direction or action thereon 

 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  Since the public hearing on October 31, 2017, the following changes were made to the 

budget: 

1. Removed revaluation funding of $10,000 in General Fund 

2. Removed electronic document software of $14,000 in General Fund 

3. Reduced Parks, Recreation and Forestry tree planting account by $11,885 in General Fund 

4. Removed $5,000 Riveredge funding for storm water education and activities 

5. Reduced Emergency Management vehicle budget by $20,000 in Capital Improvements 

6. Removed 911 upgrade and moved $40,000 to 2019 in Capital Improvements 

7. Moved one squad replacement of $30,000 to 2020 in Capital Improvements 

8. Moved Fire Department flag pole and planter project for $40,000 to 2019 in Capital Improvements 

9. Moved standing mower of $8,000 to 2019 in Capital Improvements 

10. Reduced Library levy by $10,000 

 

Total reduction of $188,885 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   Funding for some of these items should be kept in 2018 even though the 

tax rate will increase slightly.  We are just pushing the problem out another year, not resolving it. 

 
 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:  N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  With these changes to the budget the 2018 tax rate will be $7.48/$1,000 of 

assessed value a 0.3% increase.  For the average valued home of $276,000 that amounts to $5.52. 

  
 

 

ATTACHMENTS:   Tax levy worksheet, General Fund revenues, General Fund expenditures, Library and 

Capital Improvements budgets 

 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Christy Mertes 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:  City Administrator/Treasurer Christy Mertes, 375-7606 
 

 

 

 

Packet Page 19 of 156



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018   % Change
City Tax Levies Actual Actual Actual Actual Proposed 2017/2016
General Fund Levy—Operating 5,568,212 5,626,518 5,803,256 5,869,616 6,133,050 4.5%

Capital Improvement Levy 1,235,000 1,435,000 1,170,000 1,192,000 915,000 -23.2%
Special Revenue Fund 
Levy—Library 490,000 657,842 707,306 707,306 722,194 2.1%
TIF District - City Portion 62 107 72.6%

Special Revenue Fund Levy—Pool 44,121 65,658 69,652 6.1%

Debt Service Levy 972,917 619,532 705,776 1,284,280 1,502,211 17.0%

Total City Levy 8,266,129 8,338,892 8,430,459 9,118,922 9,342,214 2.4%

Cedarburg Schools—Operating 11,689,535 11,768,557 11,817,277 11,937,297 11,882,675 -0.5%

Cedarburg Schools—TIF 3 81 136 67.9%

Ozaukee County—Operating 2,243,675 2,227,614 2,211,000 2,262,791 2,353,560 4.0%

Ozaukee County—TIF 3 15 27 80.0%

State of Wisconsin 196,308 201,463 204,381 212,892 -100.0%

M.A.T.C.—Operating 2,460,817 1,507,980 1,514,199 1,580,353 1,646,116 4.2%

M.A.T.C.—TIF 3 11 19 72.7%

Total Tax Levy (Gross) 24,856,464 24,044,506 24,177,316 25,112,362 25,224,747 0.4%

- State School Credit (1,838,119) (1,812,945) (2,087,023) (2,103,864) -100.0%

Total Tax Levy (Net) 23,018,345 22,231,561 22,090,293 23,008,498 25,224,747 9.6%

Equalized Valuation 1,156,752,200 1,187,131,800 1,204,323,800 1,254,478,000 1,309,132,400 4.4%

City Equalized Tax Rate 7.15 7.02 7.00 7.27 7.14 -1.8%

School District Equalized Tax Rate 10.13 9.94 9.84 9.54 9.08 -4.8%

Total Equalized Tax Rate 19.93 18.77 18.36 18.35 19.29 5.1%

Assessed Valuation 1,183,410,760 1,196,486,770 1,208,692,140 1,221,899,680 1,248,857,140 2.2%

Assessment Ratio 102.30% 100.91% 100.36% 97.39% 95.40%

Tax Rates (Per $1,000 A.V.)

City of Cedarburg 6.99 6.97 6.97 7.46 7.48 0.3%

Cedarburg School District 9.90 9.86 9.80 9.79 9.54 -2.6%

Ozaukee County 1.90 1.86 1.83 1.85 1.88 1.6%

State of Wisconsin 0.17 0.17 0.17 0.17 0.00 -100.0%

M.A.T.C. 2.08 1.26 1.25 1.29 1.32 2.3%

  Total Tax Rate (Gross) 21.04 20.12 20.02 20.56 20.22 -1.7%

- State School Credit (1.55) (1.52) (1.73) (1.72) 0.00 -100.0%

  Total Tax Rate (Net) 19.49 18.60 18.29 18.84 20.22 7.3%

City of Cedarburg—Tax Levy History

Other Taxing Bodies

Packet Page 20 of 156



General Fund
Fund 100

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Revenues 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Public Improvement Revenues 1,410 2,918 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Intergovernmental Revenues 1,010,251 1,050,139 1,003,161 983,469 1,034,166 876,083 -10.92%

Regulation & Compliance 361,940 417,195 428,454 429,335 418,985 411,820 -4.08%

Law & Ordinance Violations 51,399 49,444 57,688 67,500 69,500 67,500 0.00%

Public Charges for Services 76,059 79,436 115,541 76,565 175,953 117,545 53.52%

Intergovernmental Charges 202,855 196,482 215,020 217,614 340,273 243,643 11.96%

Commercial Revenues 158,655 1,120,416 184,102 194,372 223,260 228,211 17.41%

Property Taxes 6,284,746 6,346,910 6,557,403 6,668,080 6,668,080 6,965,399 4.46%

Total 8,147,315 9,262,940 8,561,369 8,636,935 8,930,217 8,910,201 3.16%

2017 2017 2018 %Change

Expenditures 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

General Government 1,057,401 1,042,523 1,118,844 1,116,049 1,144,587 1,130,334 1.28%

Public Safety 3,617,236 3,687,680 3,919,317 4,007,743 3,957,682 4,105,528 2.44%

Engineering & Public Works 2,308,939 2,308,639 2,412,208 2,515,804 2,512,698 2,631,573 4.60%

Parks, Recreation & Forestry 824,276 875,295 874,382 924,502 939,854 957,719 3.59%

Conservation & Development 70,419 72,621 92,920 88,880 88,850 119,647 34.62%

Other 0 0 0 0 0 275,000 0.00%

Transfers to Other Funds 80,559 1,079,875 14,503 139,700 138,175 87,500 -37.37%

Total 7,958,830 9,066,633 8,432,174 8,792,678 8,781,846 9,307,301 5.85%

Revenues - Expenditures 188,485 196,307 129,195 (155,743) 148,371 (397,100) 154.97%

Audit Adjustment (201,780)      

Fund Balance 2,322,259 2,518,566 2,445,981 2,290,238 2,594,352 2,197,252

Packet Page 21 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

Public Improvements 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Engineering & Administration 1,410 2,918 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total Public Improvement Revenues 1,410 2,918 0 0 0 0 0.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Intergovernmental Revenues 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

State Shared Revenues 198,720 205,083 200,137 204,686 204,686 204,518 -0.08%

Fire Insurance Dues 45,625 71,150 46,134 0 50,491 0 0.00%

Expenditure Restraint Program 157,190 166,957 162,961 166,773 166,773 0 -100.00%

State Grant, Police Training 2,880 3,040 3,200 2,700 2,880 2,700 0.00%

State Transportation Aids 547,997 544,042 509,960 528,547 527,404 606,514 14.75%

State Computer Aids 15,848 17,022 23,040 21,000 20,253 20,551 -2.14%

State Recycling Grant 37,991 37,984 35,941 35,941 37,857 37,800 5.17%

Federal Grant—COPS/Police 0 940 0 0 0 0 0.00%

State Grants—DOT/Police 4,000 3,921 20,958 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%

State Grant - Façade Study 830

State Grant - Forestry 0 0 19,822 19,822 0 -100.00%

Total Intergovernmental Revenues 1,010,251 1,050,139 1,003,161 983,469 1,034,166 876,083 -10.92%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Regulation and Compliance 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2017/2016

Liquor & Beer Licenses 21,536 21,795 22,123 21,480 21,465 21,480 0.00%

Direct Seller Licenses 645 960 1,705 1,800 1,800 1,800 0.00%

Cigarette Licenses 800 600 400 700 600 600 -14.29%

Operator Licenses 12,400 11,018 14,350 14,000 14,350 14,350 2.50%

Bicycle Licenses 110 60 136 100 100 100 0.00%

Dog and Cat Licenses 1,531 695 1,357 1,300 1,300 1,300 0.00%

Cable TV Franchise Fee 156,207 159,092 155,956 160,000 150,000 150,000 -6.25%

Transient Permit Fee 250 250 250 250 250 250 0.00%

Weights & Measures Licenses 1,020 1,060 1,035 995 960 995 0.00%

Fire Inspection Fee 15,115 8,893 15,473 15,325 15,325 15,325 0.00%

Building Permits 65,459 108,798 111,871 111,800 111,800 104,860 -6.21%

Electrical Permits 18,014 21,042 21,303 22,400 22,400 22,400 0.00%

Plumbing Permits 18,975 27,070 25,440 24,750 24,750 24,750 0.00%

Clearwater Compliance Permits 8,650 5,650 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Heating/Air Conditioning Permits 14,858 19,836 20,279 20,000 20,000 20,000 0.00%

Drive Opening Permits 790 940 1,260 1,000 1,100 1,100 10.00%

Erosion Control Permits 2,550 3,900 5,750 5,550 5,550 5,550 0.00%

Occupancy Permits 5,650 6,430 6,170 5,950 5,950 5,950 0.00%

Sign Permits 2,425 2,265 1,590 1,800 1,800 1,800 0.00%

Street Opening Permits 4,950 3,800 4,300 3,600 3,800 3,800 5.56%

Miscellaneous Permits—Clerk 1,375 1,905 1,950 1,910 1,985 1,910 0.00%

Building Inspection Plan Review 3,165 4,025 6,927 8,025 7,000 6,400 -20.25%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Regulation and Compliance (contd.) 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Stormwater Management Permit 244 1,053 2,360 1,200 800 1,200 0.00%

Plan Review 4,621 6,058 6,469 5,000 5,500 5,500 10.00%

Zoning Permits 600 0 0 400 400 400 0.00%

Total Regulation & Compliance 361,940 417,195 428,454 429,335 418,985 411,820 -4.08%

General Fund Revenues

Fund 100

General Fund Revenues

Fund 100 (contd.)

Packet Page 22 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

Law & Ordinance Violations 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Court Penalties & Costs 33,672 32,228 41,757 44,500 44,500 44,500 0.00%

Parking Violations 17,727 17,216 15,931 23,000 25,000 23,000 0.00%

Total Law & Ordinance Violations 51,399 49,444 57,688 67,500 69,500 67,500 0.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Public Charges for Services 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Treasurer's Office Fees 851 1,018 1,338 700 3,548 1,300 85.71%

License Publication Fees 720 750 765 920 1,040 920 0.00%

Assessor's Office Fees 4,708 5,510 6,230 5,000 5,000 5,000 0.00%

General Government Misc. Fees 57 0 4 0 25 0 0.00%

Engineering Fees 0 0 8,606 3,100 2,000 3,000 -3.23%

Building Inspection House Nos. 490 973 861 920 920 920 0.00%

State Tag Fee 595 1,150 1,850 2,300 1,800 1,800 -21.74%

Tax Exemption Fees 175 0 175 0 0 175 0.00%

Central Duplicating Fees 206 244 120 175 350 250 42.86%

Police Department Fees 11,627 15,293 18,285 11,500 11,500 11,500 0.00%

Alarm Permit Fees 375 275 325 250 6,705 6,680 2572.00%

False Alarm Fees 2,485 3,470 1,090 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Public Works Department Fees 3,518 3,774 11,335 3,500 66,091 13,500 285.71%

Celebrations 16,729 17,149 23,496 18,000 22,649 20,000 11.11%

Recycling—Plastic/Glass/Oil 395 215 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Recycling—Aluminum/Tin 920 0 0 0 51 0 0.00%

Recycling Cart Upgrade 1,688 1,847 2,073 1,800 554 400 0.00%

Weed Mowing Fees 794 920 920 800 800 800 0.00%

Park Rental Fees 5,540 7,929 7,002 6,500 7,120 7,000 7.69%

Senior Center Fees 24,186 18,919 24,009 18,500 36,500 35,000 89.19%

Senior Van Receipts 6,739 6,700 6,700 0.00%

Public Charges for Services 0 0 318 600 600 600 0.00%

Total Public Charges for Services 76,059 79,436 115,541 76,565 175,953 117,545 53.52%

Packet Page 23 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

Intergovernmental Charges 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Sanitation—Town 3,632 3,350 3,350 3,350 3,350 3,350 0.00%

Fire— Operating—Town 129,142 126,779 148,655 141,364 264,109 167,229 18.30%

Fire/EMS Dispatching—Town 3,280 3,570 2,365 3,500 3,500 3,500 0.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Intergovernmental Charges (contd.) 2014 2015 2015 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Emergency Management—Town 375 229 330 600 600 600 0.00%

Crossing Guards—School District 47,430 44,567 42,005 50,000 50,000 50,000 0.00%

Sewer Administrative Services 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 0.00%

Transfer from Room Tax Fund 3,219 4,038 3,953 3,250 3,000 3,250 0.00%

Transfer from CDBG—Admin. 980 973 931 1,500 1,500 1,500 0.00%

Transfer from TIF—Admin. 1,769 0 455 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%

City of Mequon—Reimbursement 2,778 2,726 2,726 2,800 2,964 2,964 5.86%

Total Intergovernmental Charges 202,855 196,482 215,020 217,614 340,273 243,643 11.96%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Commercial Revenues 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Interest—Delinquent Property Taxes 289 429 605 400 443 300 -25.00%

Interest— Investments 9,513 15,634 21,149 31,000 45,000 46,254 49.21%

Interest—Special Assessments 174 105 154 0 264 0 0.00%

Change in Market Value 0 0 (36,989) 0 8,000 5,000 0.00%

Rent—City Property 14,828 14,111 16,904 14,100 14,100 14,100 0.00%

Rent—City Property, Water Tower 124,376 130,594 137,251 143,705 143,853 150,890 5.00%

Sale of City Property 162 6,444 3,424 0 825 0 0.00%

Refund of Prior Years Expense 3,313 33 (2,712) 0 0 0 0.00%

Donations 6,000 15,415 30,835 5,167 10,775 11,667 125.80%

Contribution of Fire Dept. Assets 0 537,651 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Miscellaneous Revenue 0 0 13,481 0 0 0 0.00%

Transfer from Trust & Agency 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Transfer from EMS 0 400,000 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total Commercial Revenues 158,655 1,120,416 184,102 194,372 223,260 228,211 17.41%

Total Non-Tax Revenues 1,862,569 2,916,030 2,003,966 1,968,855 2,262,137 1,944,802 -1.22%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Tax Revenues 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Property Taxes 5,569,576 5,628,178 5,812,613 5,869,616 5,869,616 6,133,050 4.49%

Property Tax Equivalent 715,170 718,732 744,790 798,464 798,464 832,349 4.24%

Total Property Taxes 6,284,746 6,346,910 6,557,403 6,668,080 6,668,080 6,965,399 4.46%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

Total General Fund Revenues 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

8,147,315 9,262,940 8,561,369 8,636,935 8,930,217 8,910,201 3.16%

General Fund Revenues

Fund 100 (contd.)

Packet Page 24 of 156



General Government Fund 100 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Common Council 511100 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 16,477 16,800 17,707 16,800 16,800 16,800 0.00%

Social Security 1,260 1,243 1,335 1,285 1,285 1,285 0.00%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 42 34 38 37 37 35 -5.41%

Total 17,779 18,077 19,080 18,122 18,122 18,120 -0.01%

511100 Common Council 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Printing 67 0 0 100 0 100 0.00%

Subscriptions and Dues 6,220 6,322 6,101 6,350 6,032 6,350 0.00%

Travel & Meeting Expenses 315 233 154 225 225 225 0.00%

Operating Expenses 463 386 184 375 375 375 0.00%

Total 7,065 6,941 6,439 7,050 6,632 7,050 0.00%

Total Expenditures 24,844 25,018 25,519 25,172 24,754 25,170 -0.01%

513100 Mayor 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salary 6,000 6,000 6,231 6,000 6,000 6,000 0.00%

Social Security 459 459 477 459 459 459 0.00%

Retirement 8 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 15 12 14 13 13 12 -7.69%

Total 6,482 6,471 6,722 6,472 6,472 6,471 -0.02%

513100 Mayor 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Telephone 32 67 88 85 100 100 17.65%

Printing 6,813 7,103 3,564 0 0 0 0.00%

Travel & Meeting Expenses 162 0 553 600 600 600 0.00%

Awards & Supplies 0 561 0 600 600 600 0.00%

Other Expenses 250 515 107 250 250 250 0.00%

Total 7,257 8,246 4,312 1,535 1,550 1,550 0.98%

Total Expenditures 13,739 14,717 11,034 8,007 8,022 8,021 0.17%

513200 City Administrator 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 68,323 69,693 71,490 72,641 72,641 74,099 2.01%

Sick Payout 844 706 987 986 986 1,006 2.03%

Social Security 5,148 5,258 5,416 5,735 5,735 5,852 2.04%

Retirement 4,923 4,954 4,945 5,098 5,098 5,125 0.53%

Health Insurance 9,673 13,271 13,347 15,491 15,548 16,712 7.88%

Life Insurance 33 46 47 38 48 50 31.58%

Longevity 1,194 1,244 1,294 1,344 1,344 1,394 3.72%

Workers' Comp Insurance 186 154 176 177 177 169 -4.52%

Total 90,324 95,326 97,702 101,510 101,577 104,407 2.85%

513200 City Administrator 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Telephone 587 129 88 130 110 110 -15.38%

Operating Supplies 8 359 46 150 150 150 0.00%

Publications & Dues 404 550 357 375 333 375 0.00%

Conferences & Travel 727 68 880 600 600 600 0.00%

Total 1,726 1,106 1,371 1,255 1,193 1,235 -1.59%

Total Expenditures 92,050 96,432 99,073 102,765 102,770 105,642 2.80%

Packet Page 25 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

519200 Employee Relations 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

EAP/125 1,759 1,904 1,811 2,100 2,100 2,100 0.00%

Professional Services 471 140 1,229 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%

Leadership Development 549 344 230 300 550 550 83.33%

Awards and Supplies 1,330 2,164 1,479 1,550 2,484 2,000 29.03%

Total 4,109 4,552 4,749 4,950 6,134 5,650 14.14%

Legal Services 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Legal Services 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

General Services 19,200 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Extraordinary Services 43,541 51,305 102,153 80,000 100,000 80,000 0.00%

Total Legal Services 62,741 51,305 102,153 80,000 100,000 80,000 0.00%

514100 City Clerk 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 118,557 120,749 123,600 125,832 125,832 128,357 2.01%

Salaries—Part-Time 14,293 16,252 17,258 17,535 17,535 18,236 4.00%

Sick Payout 515 340 1,526 1,646 1,646 1,650 0.24%

Social Security 10,564 10,716 11,061 11,253 11,253 11,509 2.27%

Retirement 8,556 9,120 9,685 10,002 10,002 10,080 0.78%

Health Insurance 17,963 22,004 31,967 34,768 34,768 36,725 5.63%

Life Insurance 56 77 84 84 84 87 3.57%

Longevity 1,701 1,827 1,953 2,079 2,079 2,205 6.06%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 359 297 342 348 348 331 -4.89%

Total 172,564 181,382 197,476 203,547 203,547 209,180 2.77%

514100 City Clerk 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 829 703 374 1,000 960 1,000 0.00%

Telephone 1,458 458 441 600 600 600 0.00%

Repair & Maintenance Services 1,958 1,996 1,350 1,415 1,415 1,415 0.00%

Office Supplies & Expenses 3,012 2,665 1,675 3,100 3,000 3,100 0.00%

Recording Fees 240 130 170 400 350 400 0.00%

Computer/Copier Supplies 0 1,393 1,863 2,500 2,000 2,500 0.00%

Postage 9,929 7,856 8,163 10,500 9,000 10,500 0.00%

Publication & Dues 548 380 178 575 575 575 0.00%

Legal Notice Publications 3,027 2,472 3,303 4,500 4,000 4,500 0.00%

Employee Training, Travel 665 185 114 1,000 800 1,000 0.00%

Equipment 0 424 0 900 900 900 0.00%

Total 21,666 18,662 17,631 26,490 23,600 26,490 0.00%

Total Expenditures 194,230 200,044 215,107 230,037 227,147 235,670 2.45%

514200 Elections 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 19,884 9,981 27,277 13,985 10,000 32,462 132.12%

Overtime 792 87 44 200 0 1,053 0.00%
Salaries—Part Time 45 0 113 0 0 720 0.00%

Social Security 111 0 107 15 54 136 0.00%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 24 26 71 31 31 71 129.03%

Total 20,856 10,094 27,612 14,231 10,085 34,442 142.02%

514200 Elections 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Supplies 4,375 4,209 5,784 7,106 5,500 9,406 32.37%

Equipment 0 3,160 66 200 200 200 0.00%

Legal Notice Publications 179 68 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total 4,554 7,437 5,850 7,306 5,700 9,606 31.48%

Total Expenditures 25,410 17,531 33,462 21,537 15,785 44,048 104.52%

Packet Page 26 of 156



515400 City Assessor 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 68,257 69,678 71,472 72,622 72,622 74,065 1.99%

Sick Payout 588 340 760 700 754 750 7.14%

Social Security 5,195 5,104 5,179 5,739 5,743 5,858 2.07%

Retirement 4,953 4,976 4,966 5,102 5,105 5,131 0.57%

Health Insurance 14,760 17,571 18,161 19,609 19,609 21,155 7.88%

Life Insurance 53 62 66 66 66 68 3.03%

Longevity 1,512 1,575 1,638 1,701 1,701 1,764 3.70%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 2,729 2,468 3,450 3,408 3,408 3,414 0.18%

Total 98,047 101,774 105,692 108,947 109,008 112,205 2.99%

515400 City Assessor 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 10,100 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 0.00%

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Telephone 729 196 177 200 180 200 0.00%

Office Supplies 350 269 268 325 300 300 -7.69%

Computer Supplies 3,887 4,333 3,969 4,500 4,250 4,450 -1.11%

Publication & Dues 255 255 255 305 305 305 0.00%

State Fees—Mfg. Assessment 1,447 1,315 1,505 1,685 1,592 1,685 0.00%

Employee Training, Travel 1,163 1,286 887 1,200 1,126 1,200 0.00%

Total 17,931 21,154 20,561 21,715 21,253 21,640 -0.35%

Total Expenditures 115,978 122,928 126,253 130,662 130,261 133,845 2.44%

515600 City Treasurer 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 66,919 73,579 80,830 81,343 81,343 83,189 2.27%

Salaries—Part Time 25,496 29,297 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Sick Payout 670 354 452 474 474 373 -21.31%

Social Security 7,224 7,533 5,852 6,384 6,384 6,524 2.19%

Retirement 6,887 6,239 5,625 5,674 5,674 5,714 0.70%

Health Insurance 12,942 16,631 22,032 25,168 23,898 27,133 7.81%

Life Insurance 112 99 81 61 41 84 37.70%

Longevity 2,539 1,446 1,537 1,629 1,629 1,720 5.59%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 250 207 195 197 197 187 -5.08%

Total 123,039 135,385 116,604 120,930 119,640 124,924 3.30%

515600 City Treasurer 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 39,575 43,762 52,368 49,125 50,000 50,000 1.78%

Telephone 1,458 325 265 300 300 315 5.00%

Office Supplies 6,567 6,121 6,794 4,200 4,200 4,200 0.00%

Publication & Dues 415 464 465 500 500 500 0.00%

Employee Training, Travel 139 151 170 400 600 400 0.00%

Office Equipment 0 0 1,014 100 50 100 0.00%

Other Expenses 2,471 4,146 2,289 2,500 2,500 2,500 0.00%

Total 50,625 54,969 63,365 57,125 58,150 58,015 1.56%

Total Expenditures 173,664 190,354 179,969 178,055 177,790 182,939 2.74%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

515900 Independent Auditing 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 29,042 33,112 32,400 28,000 33,000 28,000 0.00%

Packet Page 27 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

514700 Technology 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 17,620 15,603 9,505 15,000 15,000 15,000 0.00%

Internet Service 10,098 13,254 13,365 13,500 13,500 13,500 0.00%

Computer Supplies 2,419 88 74 500 100 500 0.00%

Equipment Outlay 12,466 5,986 18,820 6,000 7,610 9,500 58.33%

Multi Use Equipment 7,151 9,245 7,059 7,000 7,100 7,100 1.43%

Total 49,754 44,176 48,823 42,000 43,310 45,600 8.57%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

519100 Illegal/Uncollectible Taxes 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Uncollectible Taxes 0 0 0 0 2,113 0 0.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

519400 Insurance 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Property/Auto Insurance 3,280 3,480 3,648 3,702 3,702 4,222 14.05%

General Liability Insurance 4,629 4,390 4,664 4,639 4,555 4,344 -6.36%

Surety Bonds 862 531 520 520 605 605 16.35%

Total 8,771 8,401 8,832 8,861 8,862 9,171 3.50%

518100 City Hall Complex 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 77,868 80,979 82,495 81,152 96,000 70,814 -12.74%

Overtime 3,691 1,542 3,598 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%
Salaries—Part-Time 1,735 2,027 1,996 7,330 2,000 2,000 -72.71%

Sick Payout 831 988 972 997 285 285 -71.41%

Social Security 6,678 6,835 6,881 7,195 7,724 5,797 -19.43%

Retirement 6,053 5,942 6,118 5,897 6,730 4,943 -16.18%

Health Insurance 14,017 16,394 19,345 21,232 21,232 13,002 -38.76%

Life Insurance 112 124 143 107 107 50 -53.27%

Longevity 2,307 2,397 2,487 2,577 680 680 -73.61%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 3,300 2,972 4,151 4,247 4,247 3,373 -20.58%

Total 116,592 120,200 128,186 132,734 141,005 102,944 -22.44%

518100 City Hall Complex 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Electric 22,563 20,753 23,578 25,609 25,609 25,609 0.00%

Natural Gas 37,028 22,172 21,155 25,000 25,000 25,000 0.00%

Telephone 882 1,653 1,971 1,660 2,025 2,025 21.99%

Water Service 4,038 3,514 3,350 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%

Repair & Maintenance Services 28,971 29,536 32,181 30,000 30,000 30,000 0.00%

Operating Supplies 20,026 13,978 15,166 15,000 15,000 15,000 0.00%

Capital Equipment Outlay 32,969 22,147 5,883 22,000 22,000 22,000 0.00%

Total 146,477 113,753 103,284 123,269 123,634 123,634 0.30%

Total Expenditures 263,069 233,953 231,470 256,003 264,639 226,578 -11.49%

Total General Government 1,057,401 1,042,523 1,118,844 1,116,049 1,144,587 1,130,334 1.28%

Packet Page 28 of 156



Public Safety
522100 Police Station 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 18,260 19,098 17,811 19,493 19,493 19,884 2.01%

Overtime 0 66 389 400 400 400 0.00%

Sick Payout 162 0 202 219 219 190 -13.24%

Social Security 1,734 1,642 1,535 1,571 1,571 1,601 1.91%

Retirement 1,494 1,363 1,356 1,382 1,382 1,389 0.51%

Health Insurance 1,973 1,920 3,348 3,304 3,304 3,554 7.57%

Life Insurance 10 0 0 18 18 23 27.78%

Longevity 353 378 403 428 428 453 5.84%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 746 676 964 932 932 932 0.00%

Total 24,732 25,143 26,008 27,747 27,747 28,426 2.45%

522100 Police Station 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Electric 26,923 25,120 26,000 28,591 28,591 28,591 0.00%

Natural Gas 16,443 7,864 6,769 12,000 12,000 12,000 0.00%

Water Service 895 915 1,068 1,270 1,270 1,270 0.00%

Repair & Maintenance Services 16,591 29,751 28,228 22,000 22,000 20,000 -9.09%

Maintenance Supplies 2,519 2,794 2,068 4,500 4,500 4,500 0.00%

Property/Auto Insurance 2,269 2,077 2,038 2,038 2,038 1,996 -2.06%

Total 65,640 68,521 66,171 70,399 70,399 68,357 -2.90%

Total Expenditures 90,372 93,664 92,179 98,146 98,146 96,783 -1.39%

522110 Police Administration 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 180,967 187,501 193,472 196,304 197,285 201,688 2.74%

Overtime 4,878 9,408 2,487 3,950 12,000 4,029 2.00%

Office/Dispatchers 339,468 350,337 382,637 391,551 380,551 385,451 -1.56%

Holiday 8,960 9,796 8,637 12,716 12,716 12,970 2.00%

Sick Payout 5,002 5,016 4,576 4,815 4,815 6,107 26.83%

Social Security 41,133 42,822 45,119 47,674 47,523 47,632 -0.09%

Retirement 48,938 45,540 46,754 50,293 50,201 51,191 1.79%

Health Insurance 92,885 112,504 125,309 134,896 134,896 158,666 17.62%

Life Insurance 204 218 226 228 228 221 -3.07%

Longevity 12,148 12,715 13,282 13,849 13,849 12,400 -10.46%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 9,015 6,574 8,316 7,983 7,983 7,881 -1.28%

Total 743,598 782,431 830,815 864,259 862,047 888,236 2.77%

522110 Police Administration 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Legal Services 14,574 15,813 18,449 15,000 15,000 15,000 0.00%

Animal Pound 490 790 1,089 1,500 1,500 1,500 0.00%

Telephone/Communications 30,449 34,527 29,998 28,000 28,000 29,000 3.57%

Repair & Maintenance Services 43,976 47,438 73,757 42,000 42,000 42,000 0.00%

Office Supplies 6,136 5,169 7,499 6,500 6,500 6,500 0.00%

Printing 1,973 2,509 3,270 3,500 3,500 3,500 0.00%

Publications & Dues 1,639 1,360 233 1,250 1,250 1,250 0.00%

Employee Training, Travel 5,987 5,546 4,997 4,500 4,500 4,500 0.00%

Clothing & Uniforms 2,098 3,624 3,204 3,700 3,700 3,700 0.00%
Supplies & Expenses—Hunter Safety 338 267 60 300 300 300 0.00%

Equipment Outlay 12,006 1,607 624 5,500 5,500 8,500 54.55%

Other Expenses (Photo) 2,426 1,399 2,035 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Liability Insurance 18,282 19,269 19,840 19,880 19,880 19,175 -3.55%

Total 140,374 139,318 165,055 133,630 133,630 136,925 2.47%

Total Expenditures 883,972 921,749 995,870 997,889 995,677 1,025,161 2.73%

Packet Page 29 of 156



522120 Patrol 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 1,089,876 1,138,365 1,252,269 1,214,992 1,200,992 1,239,751 2.04%

Overtime 28,983 32,994 50,588 46,371 46,371 47,530 2.50%

Crossing Guards 48,634 44,221 39,600 53,296 33,548 36,553 -31.42%

Wages/Billable (8,813) (8,032) (10,606) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) 0.00%

Holiday 36,973 36,754 33,549 56,694 56,694 58,111 2.50%

Sick Payout 4,277 4,109 4,192 4,593 4,593 4,805 4.62%

Social Security 92,619 96,300 105,518 105,590 103,008 106,404 0.77%

Retirement 110,287 124,115 129,841 146,561 145,021 151,725 3.52%

Health Insurance 220,985 211,627 224,231 233,540 233,540 233,959 0.18%

Life Insurance 199 225 171 204 204 204 0.00%

Longevity 14,706 16,217 17,162 14,316 14,316 14,149 -1.17%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 44,228 45,469 51,066 49,543 49,543 47,792 -3.53%

Total 1,682,954 1,742,364 1,897,581 1,915,700 1,877,830 1,930,983 0.80%

522120 Patrol 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Repair & Maintenance Services 17,307 8,767 16,397 20,000 20,000 20,000 0.00%

Employee Training, Travel 17,770 20,535 19,162 16,000 16,000 16,000 0.00%

Clothing & Uniforms 22,096 16,622 18,990 12,200 12,200 12,200 0.00%

Supplies & Expenses 10,005 15,704 7,564 5,500 5,500 5,500 0.00%

Gasoline, Motor Oil 43,615 30,250 26,522 32,000 26,000 28,000 -12.50%

Equipment Outlay 22,235 20,292 27,188 21,000 21,000 31,000 47.62%

Other Expenses 870 17 1,016 500 500 500 0.00%

Property/Automobile Insurance 3,579 3,319 3,440 3,922 3,922 4,064 3.62%

Total 137,477 115,506 120,279 111,122 105,122 117,264 5.53%

Total Expenditures 1,820,431 1,857,870 2,017,860 2,026,822 1,982,952 2,048,247 1.06%

522130 Investigative Division 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 151,818 157,379 161,067 163,551 170,000 167,606 2.48%

Overtime 7,756 9,003 17,353 10,506 10,506 10,769 2.50%

Wages/Billable (101) (215) (314) (927) (927) (1,500) 61.81%

Holiday 5,777 5,962 6,154 6,792 6,792 6,962 2.50%

Sick Payout 1,164 927 758 1,174 1,174 0 -100.00%

Social Security 12,520 12,915 13,859 14,105 14,598 14,216 0.79%

Retirement 19,131 17,756 18,795 20,254 20,963 20,906 3.22%

Health Insurance 31,327 33,791 37,013 39,957 39,957 43,078 7.81%

Life Insurance 57 83 96 96 96 30 -68.75%

Longevity 3,754 3,113 3,239 3,277 3,277 1,995 -39.12%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 7,373 6,059 6,627 6,476 6,476 6,469 -0.11%

Total 240,576 246,773 264,647 265,261 272,912 270,531 1.99%

522130 Investigative Division 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 5,158 1,678 8,226 2,500 2,500 2,500 0.00%

Investigative Supplies 2,635 1,765 1,700 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%

Employee Training, Travel 3,133 1,615 1,878 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Clothing & Uniforms 1,924 2,436 1,907 1,250 1,250 1,250 0.00%

Total 12,850 7,494 13,711 8,750 8,750 8,750 0.00%

Total Expenditures 253,426 254,267 278,358 274,011 281,662 279,281 1.92%

Packet Page 30 of 156



522230 Fire Station 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 0 25,000 25,000 51,003 104.01%

Part Time Salaries (13,207) 13,207 0 25,000 25,000 53,040 112.16%

FICA (1,008) 1,050 0 3,825 3,825 7,959 108.08%

Retirement 23,614 23,393 21,197 25,788 20,921 27,505 6.66%

Health Insurance 0 9,535 9,535 21,155 121.87%

Workers' Comp. Insurance 8,699 6,915 9,297 9,409 9,409 15,995 70.00%

Total 18,098 44,565 30,494 98,557 93,690 176,657 79.24%

522230 Fire Station 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Electric 15,639 14,816 17,193 16,360 16,360 16,360 0.00%

Natural Gas 15,392 9,161 9,732 13,130 12,000 12,000 -8.61%

Telephone 1,393 575 578 800 860 900 12.50%

Water Service 2,602 2,515 2,806 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%

Operating Expense 238,100 247,773 262,435 244,763 244,763 204,500 -16.45%

Building Maintenance 15,339 7,791 5,339 11,000 11,000 11,000 0.00%

Maintenance/Contracted Services 0 0 0 2,300 2,240 2,300 0.00%

Property/Auto Insurance 29,217 36,435 30,610 34,563 34,563 41,333 19.59%

Liability Insurance 2,854 2,421 2,708 2,895 2,834 2,868 -0.93%

State Fire Insurance Dues 45,625 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total 366,161 321,487 331,401 328,811 327,620 294,261 -10.51%

Total Expenditures 384,259 366,052 361,895 427,368 421,310 470,918 10.19%

522310 Building Inspection 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 104,420 113,682 99,055 105,396 101,396 103,428 -1.87%
Social Security 7,545 8,362 7,315 8,121 7,815 7,975 -1.80%
Retirement 7,719 7,134 6,814 7,218 6,946 6,985 -3.23%
Health Insurance 26,277 27,729 24,727 27,344 27,344 29,493 7.86%
Life Insurance 53 49 57 59 59 58 -1.69%
Longevity 2,457 630 693 756 756 819 8.33%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 2,276 2,345 3,202 3,145 3,145 2,967 -5.66%

Total 150,747 159,931 141,863 152,039 147,461 151,725 -0.21%

522310 Building Inspection 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 1,860 2,250 2,935 2,250 2,250 3,000 33.33%
Telephone 1,051 521 504 600 425 425 -29.17%
Office Supplies & Expenses 2,132 2,347 3,377 2,347 2,347 2,347 0.00%
Employee Training, Travel 601 0 375 650 500 500 -23.08%
Vehicle Maintenance—Gasoline 2,445 1,863 1,972 1,900 1,700 1,700 -10.53%
Liability Insurance 969 1,043 949 962 962 875 -9.04%

Total 9,058 8,024 10,112 8,709 8,184 8,847 1.58%

Total Expenditures 159,805 167,955 151,975 160,748 155,645 160,572 -0.11%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

522360 Weights & Measures 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Packet Page 31 of 156



522410 Emergency Management 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Workers' Comp. Insurance 341 250 250 263 75 250 -4.94%
Electric 2,433 711 667 1,020 1,020 900 -11.76%
Natural Gas 2,394 760 784 1,250 1,250 1,250 0.00%
Telephone 1,895 973 1,225 1,200 1,600 1,600 33.33%
Water Service 343 335 371 420 420 420 0.00%
Sirens Maintenance 1,973 1,320 1,440 1,000 2,340 2,000 100.00%
Repair & Maintenance 954 2,392 1,038 2,000 500 2,500 25.00%
Maintenance—Contracted 0 177 24 500 0 500 0.00%
Radio Equipment Maintenance 1,413 2,175 789 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%
Training & Travel 1,608 649 1,720 1,500 1,500 1,500 0.00%
Repair & Maintenance—Supplies 309 441 54 500 500 500 0.00%
Awards 683 394 350 800 800 800 0.00%
Clothing & Uniforms 829 8,030 4,443 1,200 1,200 1,200 0.00%
Operating Supplies—Vehicles 2,158 1,026 654 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%
Fuel—Vehicles 1,445 916 479 750 750 750 0.00%
Equipment 2,491 2,334 3,537 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%
Property Insurance 1,702 1,240 1,355 1,356 1,335 1,396 2.95%

Total 22,971 24,123 19,180 20,759 20,290 22,566 8.70%

Total Public Safety 3,617,236 3,687,680 3,919,317 4,007,743 3,957,682 4,105,528 2.44%

533110 Engineering 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 108,636 110,381 113,396 115,219 115,219 117,526 2.00%
Sick Pay Out 911 1,018 1,082 1,130 1,000 1,000 -11.50%
Social Security 7,882 8,001 8,144 9,074 9,064 9,248 1.92%
Retirement 7,915 7,873 7,851 7,989 7,989 8,033 0.55%
Health Insurance 11,891 16,469 16,845 20,786 20,786 22,408 7.80%
Life Insurance 134 149 168 132 132 137 3.79%
Longevity 1,985 2,079 2,173 2,268 2,268 2,363 4.19%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 3,068 2,760 3,837 3,710 3,710 3,791 2.18%

Total 142,422 148,730 153,496 160,308 160,168 164,506 2.62%

533110 Engineering 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 919 3,700 1,863 1,500 1,500 1,500 0.00%
Telephone 848 326 424 500 500 500 0.00%
Office Supplies 403 261 558 400 400 400 0.00%
Maps & Plats 0 1,679 3,977 4,500 4,500 11,500 155.56%
Publications & Dues 922 769 197 900 900 900 0.00%
Employee Training, Travel 795 989 685 1,000 1,000 1,200 20.00%
Operating Supplies 811 659 586 1,100 1,000 1,100 0.00%
Gas & Oil Expense 1,434 878 1,051 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%
Equipment Outlay 485 854 770 800 800 800 0.00%
Liability Insurance 6,763 6,776 6,914 6,858 6,858 6,838 -0.29%

Total 13,380 16,891 17,025 18,558 18,458 25,738 38.69%

Total Expenditures 155,802 165,621 170,521 178,866 178,626 190,244 6.36%

Packet Page 32 of 156



533210 Public Works Crew 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 86,828 98,181 112,279 115,097 115,097 73,836 -35.85%
Overtime 488 1,414 1,137 1,050 1,050 1,050 0.00%
Social Security 6,331 7,199 8,260 8,943 8,943 5,791 -35.25%
Retirement 6,583 6,946 7,721 7,949 7,949 5,072 -36.19%
Health Insurance 10,824 12,414 13,951 19,609 19,609 21,155 7.88%
Life Insurance 3 10 6 0 0 0 0.00%
Longevity 567 630 693 756 756 819 8.33%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 4,279 4,096 5,391 5,269 5,269 3,218 -38.93%

Total 115,903 130,890 149,438 158,673 158,673 110,941 -30.08%

533210 Public Works Crew 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Contracted Services 165 679 699 700 700 700 0.00%
Electric 8,250 7,348 8,521 13,000 22,000 22,000 69.23%
Natural Gas 10,585 7,283 9,284 15,000 11,500 11,500 -23.33%
Telephone 2,223 2,613 1,990 5,400 7,050 7,100 31.48%
Water Service 2,622 3,061 2,095 14,000 10,000 10,000 -28.57%
Fuel System Maintenance 5,000 0.00%
Employee Training, Travel 0 800 250 1,200 1,200 2,200 83.33%
Garage/Maintenance Supplies 24,757 27,558 34,777 26,350 27,350 31,350 18.98%
Gas/Diesel Fuel & Oil Expense 72,199 54,191 58,699 60,000 55,000 50,000 -16.67%
M&E Maintenance/Parts 51,842 57,566 50,425 51,000 51,000 51,000 0.00%
Equipment Outlay 3,700 7,345 23,704 5,000 5,000 5,000 0.00%
Property/Auto Insurance 21,679 25,124 28,515 34,724 34,724 40,298 16.05%

Total 198,022 193,568 218,959 226,374 225,524 236,148 4.32%

Total Expenditures 313,925 324,458 368,397 385,047 384,197 347,089 -9.86%

533311 Street Maintenance 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 303,489 291,149 319,438 275,077 275,077 342,199 24.40%
Overtime 31,711 17,124 22,557 45,500 45,500 45,500 0.00%
Part Time Salaries/Temporary 36 10,295 5,852 6,900 6,900 6,900 0.00%
Sick Pay Out 1,785 1,722 2,794 2,884 2,884 3,776 30.93%
Social Security 25,254 23,462 25,089 26,150 26,150 31,208 19.34%
Retirement 24,646 20,466 23,906 22,579 22,579 26,617 17.88%
Health Insurance 111,496 121,140 139,053 166,454 166,454 179,883 8.07%
Life Insurance 163 88 106 118 118 49 -58.47%
Longevity 10,962 10,710 11,277 11,466 11,466 9,576 -16.48%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 11,990 11,709 15,747 14,830 14,830 17,929 20.90%

Total 521,532 507,865 565,819 571,958 571,958 663,637 16.03%

533311 Street Maintenance 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 395 809 584 750 750 750 0.00%
Repair & Maintenance Services 54,013 56,498 47,545 45,500 45,500 45,500 0.00%
Operating Supplies 851 3,036 4,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%
Signs, Supplies & Parts 20,993 22,371 15,459 11,473 10,473 10,473 -8.72%

Total 76,252 82,714 67,588 60,723 59,723 59,723 -1.65%

Total Expenditures 597,784 590,579 633,407 632,681 631,681 723,360 14.33%

Packet Page 33 of 156



533410 Streets Ineligible 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Lease Expenses 4,340 4,133 5,381 5,450 5,450 5,450 0.00%
Total Expenditures 4,340 4,133 5,381 5,450 5,450 5,450 0.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

533420 Street Lighting 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Electric 296,538 297,507 288,811 280,000 282,000 282,000 0.71%
Total 296,538 297,507 288,811 280,000 282,000 282,000 0.71%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

533421 Traffic Control Signals 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Electric 2,707 2,300 2,708 2,700 3,000 3,000 11.11%
Repair & Maintenance Services 8,608 3,023 6,715 5,000 5,000 9,500 90.00%

Total 11,315 5,323 9,423 7,700 8,000 12,500 62.34%

Total Lighting and Signals 307,853 302,830 298,234 287,700 290,000 294,500 2.36%

533440 Storm Sewers 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 52,131 71,502 59,141 100,974 100,974 128,863 27.62%
Overtime 665 545 461 1,000 800 1,000 0.00%
Social Security 3,999 5,492 4,544 7,801 7,786 9,935 27.36%
Retirement 3,853 5,048 4,085 6,934 6,921 8,701 25.48%
Health Insurance 140 1,821 1,471 0 0 0 0.00%
Life Insurance 2 5 0 0 0 0 0.00%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 3,642 3,511 4,684 4,611 4,611 5,721 24.07%

Total 64,432 87,924 74,386 121,320 121,092 154,220 27.12%

533440 Storm Sewers 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Repair & Maintenance Services 20,201 26,745 31,142 30,000 30,000 30,000 0.00%
Contracted Services (street sweepings) 15,589 15,131 10,101 15,000 15,000 15,000 0.00%
State Fees—DNR Stormwater Permit 2,000 1,500 1,651 2,000 1,500 1,500 -25.00%

Total 37,790 43,376 42,894 47,000 46,500 46,500 -1.06%

Total Expenditures 102,222 131,300 117,280 168,320 167,592 200,720 19.25%

533450 Snow and Ice Control 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017
Contracted Services—Seasonal 1,166 868 291 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%
Contracted Services 1,365 4,543 5,184 12,000 12,000 12,000 0.00%
Maintenance Supplies 8,037 11,750 5,748 7,200 7,200 7,200 0.00%
Equipment 3,900 4,235 0 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%
Ice Control Materials 112,083 61,523 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 0.00%

Total Expenditures 126,551 82,919 101,223 117,200 117,200 117,200 0.00%

Packet Page 34 of 156



533730 Recycling 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 82,205 82,948 80,836 89,358 89,358 90,730 1.54%
Overtime 1,532 865 2,688 700 700 1,700 142.86%
Part Time Salaries/Temporary 2,813 1,941 4,175 2,295 77 0 -100.00%
Social Security 6,558 6,494 6,687 7,065 6,895 7,071 0.08%
Retirement 6,073 5,841 5,663 6,124 6,124 6,285 2.63%
Health Insurance 524 0 1,501 0 0 0 0.00%
Life Insurance 3 4 2 0 0 0 0.00%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 3,411 3,265 4,270 4,188 4,188 4,056 -3.15%

Total 103,119 101,358 105,822 109,730 107,342 109,842 0.10%

533730 Recycling 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Contracted Services 190,332 190,646 198,096 199,680 199,680 203,674 2.00%
Recycling Expenses 947 8,685 901 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Total 191,279 199,331 198,997 201,680 201,680 205,674 1.98%

Total Expenditures 294,398 300,689 304,819 311,410 309,022 315,516 1.32%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

533710 Solid Waste Collection 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Contracted Services 393,400 393,929 401,929 418,080 418,080 426,444 2.00%
Fuel Surcharge 972 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total 394,372 393,929 401,929 418,080 418,080 426,444 2.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

533720 Landfill-Groundwater Monitoring 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Contracted Services 10,898 10,050 10,050 10,050 10,050 10,050 0.00%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

533740 Weed Control 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Maintenance Services 794 2,131 967 1,000 800 1,000 0.00%

Total Health and Sanitation 406,064 406,110 412,946 429,130 428,930 437,494 1.95%

Total Engineering & Public Works 2,308,939 2,308,639 2,412,208 2,515,804 2,512,698 2,631,573 4.60%

Packet Page 35 of 156



555140 Senior Services 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Part Time Salaries 51,014 50,024 59,057 55,596 55,000 56,701 1.99%
Sick Pay Out 946 725 400 400 400 408 2.00%
Social Security 3,564 3,497 4,315 4,358 4,358 4,358 0.00%
Retirement 3,727 3,605 3,186 2,188 2,440 2,495 14.03%
Health Insurance 2,072 2,730 2,671 273 273 284 4.03%
Longevity 1,512 1,575 945 977 977 1,039 6.35%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 139 114 131 127 127 125 -1.57%

Total 62,974 62,270 70,705 63,919 63,575 65,410 2.33%

555140 Senior Services 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 7,303 5,561 6,399 6,800 8,200 7,500 10.29%
Telephone 1,016 235 177 325 325 325 0.00%
Supplies & Expenses 1,995 2,196 1,224 2,000 1,500 2,000 0.00%
Printing 1,007 874 162 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%
Employee Training, Travel 1,271 983 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250 0.00%
Other Expenses 2,270 0 0 0 18,000 16,000 0.00%
Property Insurance 468 475 479 479 479 469 -2.09%
Liability Insurance 498 470 500 491 491 477 -2.85%

Total 15,828 10,794 10,191 12,345 31,245 29,021 135.08%

Total Expenditures 78,802 73,064 80,896 76,264 94,820 94,431 23.82%

555145 Senior Van 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Telephone 47 50 50 0.00%
Repair & Maintenance 1,084 500 500 0.00%
Gas & Oil Expense 2,071 2,100 2,100 0.00%
Property Insurance 195 223 235 0.00%

Total Expenditures 0 0 3,397 0 2,873 2,885 0.00%

555220 Celebrations 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 14,506 19,244 20,718 18,100 18,000 18,000 -0.55%
Overtime 6,399 5,562 6,864 6,451 6,000 6,000 -6.99%
Part Time Salaries 0 2,555 3,800 3,000 2,000 2,500 0.00%
Social Security 1,845 2,093 2,401 2,108 1,989 2,027 -3.84%
Retirement 1,615 1,645 1,894 1,669 1,632 1,608 -3.65%

Total 24,365 31,099 35,677 31,328 29,621 30,135 -3.81%

555220 Celebrations 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 0 0 1,203 1,000 500 500 -50.00%
Supplies & Expenses 764 9,732 4,949 4,000 5,500 7,950 98.75%
Operating Supplies (Hanging baskets) 0 3,225 0 0 0 0 0.00%
Other Expenses 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 0.00%

Total 7,764 19,957 13,152 12,000 13,000 15,450 28.75%

Total Expenditures 32,129 51,056 48,829 43,328 42,621 45,585 5.21%

Packet Page 36 of 156



555510 Parks, Recreation & Forestry 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Personnel 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Salaries 358,640 357,299 354,217 358,967 358,967 371,042 3.36%
Overtime 8,848 10,057 8,095 14,211 12,000 14,211 0.00%
Part Time Salaries/Temporary 15,322 2,722 11 0 0 0 0.00%
DPW Seasonal 13,742 17,406 23,872 33,150 30,000 50,000 50.83%
Social Security 29,818 29,389 29,848 31,364 30,954 33,422 6.56%
Retirement 25,371 26,238 24,813 25,625 25,474 25,922 1.16%
Health Insurance 66,058 85,637 94,281 80,201 80,201 72,143 -10.05%
Life Insurance 86 103 112 108 108 41 -62.04%
Longevity 4,032 3,276 3,465 3,654 3,654 1,638 -55.17%
Workers' Comp. Insurance 13,936 13,496 16,617 15,894 15,894 19,908 25.25%

Total 535,853 545,623 555,331 563,174 557,252 588,327 4.47%

555510 Parks, Recreation & Forestry 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 2,277 2,499 2,520 2,500 3,000 2,500 0.00%
Electric 17,902 16,988 19,254 18,400 17,000 18,000 -2.17%
Natural Gas 2,818 1,570 1,856 2,120 2,120 2,000 -5.66%
Telephone 1,575 1,534 2,134 2,580 3,317 4,740 83.72%
Water Service 5,178 5,935 7,478 5,800 5,800 5,800 0.00%
Repair & Maintenance Services 50,877 49,218 43,603 49,525 49,525 62,075 25.34%
Vandalism Repair 31 952 0 1,500 1,000 1,000 -33.33%
Field Maintenance Supplies 0 0 0 6,000 6,500 6,000 0.00%
Contracted Services 45,808 73,685 65,115 72,645 72,645 72,645 0.00%
Office Supplies 736 1,073 1,933 1,800 1,500 2,000 11.11%
Publications & Dues 258 428 1,226 1,345 1,300 1,620 20.45%
Employee Training; Travel 1,848 2,196 3,052 3,800 3,800 5,500 44.74%
Trees and Supplies—Contracted 29,727 32,996 23,422 54,615 54,615 16,000 -70.70%
Operating Supplies 1,043 1,274 1,685 2,080 3,000 4,200 101.92%
Sign Supplies 1,317 0 272 1,000 700 1,000 0.00%
Equipment 6,737 3,935 3,378 6,000 6,000 7,500 25.00%
Other Expenses 3,042 3,864 1,246 1,560 2,000 3,060 96.15%
Property/Auto Insurance 2,618 3,952 4,215 5,287 5,287 7,101 34.31%
Liability Insurance 3,700 3,453 3,540 3,179 3,179 3,750 17.96%

Total 177,492 205,552 185,929 241,736 242,288 226,491 -6.31%

Total Expenditures 713,345 751,175 741,260 804,910 799,540 814,818 1.23%

Total Parks, Recreation & Forestry 824,276 875,295 874,382 924,502 939,854 957,719 3.59%

566310 City Planning 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Operating 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Professional Services 68,310 71,525 92,376 86,800 86,800 109,567 26.23%
Telephone 592 175 177 250 220 250 0.00%
Supplies & Expenses 256 20 16 200 200 200 0.00%
Publications & Dues 105 300 110 430 430 430 0.00%
Employee Training, Travel 52 105 241 200 200 200 0.00%
Equipment/Capital Outlay 1,104 496 0 1,000 1,000 9,000 800.00%

Total Expenditures 70,419 72,621 92,920 88,880 88,850 119,647 34.62%

591000 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Other 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Contingency Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 275,000 0.00%

Total Operating Expenditures 7,878,271 7,986,758 8,417,671 8,652,978 8,643,671 9,219,801 6.55%

592000 2017 2017 2018 % Change

Transfers to Other Funds 2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Debt Service 0 117,663 0 0 0 0 0.00%
Capital Improvement Fund 0 905,960 0 100,000 100,000 75,000 0.00%
Special Revenue Fund—Pool 79,559 55,252 13,503 38,700 37,175 11,500 0.00%
Special Revenue Fund—Rec Programs 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%

Total Transfers to Other Funds 80,559 1,079,875 14,503 139,700 138,175 87,500 -37.37%

Total Expenditures and Transfers 7,958,830 9,066,633 8,432,174 8,792,678 8,781,846 9,307,301 5.85%

Packet Page 37 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

411111 City Property Taxes 490,000 657,842 707,306 707,306 707,306 722,194 2.10%

435432 Grants 707 730 735 0.00%

467100 Library Fines and Fees 16,840 24,993 23,643 24,500 22,500 22,500 -8.16%

467110 Library Other Revenues—County 118,863 125,872 153,904 184,534 191,669 205,719 11.48%

467150 Library Other Revenues—Copies 2,319 2,383 2,388 2,500 2,500 2,400 -4.00%

473200 Library Donations 2,828 8,727

481100 Interest Income 8

482215 Rent of City Property 507 460 650 700 700 700 0.00%

491400 Transfer from Cap. Improvements 7,474 7,474

632,064 812,280 897,361 927,014 932,149 953,513 2.86%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

111 Salaries (8.0 FTE) 317,753 336,268 353,342 364,683 364,683 371,980 2.00%

124 Bonus 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 0.00%

125 Part Time Salaries (4.39 PTE) 109,516 119,463 117,409 118,905 119,000 121,311 2.02%

128 Maintenance Salaries (.50 PTE) 12,711 15,407 16,238 15,990 16,600 17,600 10.07%

135 Sick Leave Payout 157 255 7,082 350 350 836 138.86%

151 Social Security 33,288 36,220 37,687 38,331 38,378 39,427 2.86%

152 Retirement 26,150 28,203 28,163 34,072 34,113 34,531 1.35%

154 Health Insurance 67,025 91,937 105,156 120,751 120,751 129,783 7.48%

155 Life Insurance 119 129 106 77 77 94 22.08%

159 Longevity 5,512 5,880 5,155 1,134 3,134 3,654 222.22%

161 EAP/125 Admin. 96 0 0 100 100 100 0.00%

165 Workers' Comp. Insurance 1,041 1,016 1,179 1,178 1,178 1,143 -2.97%

573,368 636,778 671,517 695,571 698,364 720,459 3.58%

2017 2017 2018 % Change

2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

212 Professional Services 263 0 0 275 0 275 0.00%

222 Electric 19,037 21,195 23,709 21,100 23,000 24,000 13.74%

223 Marketing 500 594 184 200 100 200 0.00%

224 Natural Gas 8,209 7,179 7,123 7,200 7,300 7,300 1.39%

225 Telephone 2,951 2,189 2,005 2,000 2,800 2,800 40.00%

226 Water Service 1,413 1,649 1,766 1,700 1,800 1,800 5.88%

240 Repair and Maintenance 5,349 1,225 3,947 2,400 3,500 6,000 150.00%

290 Maint./Contracted Services 4,094 45,181 40,643 41,000 36,000 46,000 12.20%

308 Program Supplies 0 570 551 500 500 500 0.00%

310 Office supplies 16,576 6,230 6,257 7,500 7,500 7,500 0.00%

312 Computer Supplies 3,415 2,526 1,912 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Special Revenue Fund—Library 
Fund 260

Revenues 

Total Revenues

555110

Personnel

555110

Operating 

Total

Packet Page 38 of 156



2017 2017 2018 % Change

2014 2015 2016 Budget Estimated Proposed 2018/2017

Special Revenue Fund—Library 
Fund 260

Revenues 
313 Printing-Newsletters 0 0 1,203 0 0 0 0.00%

315 Postage 185 545 585 600 600 625 4.17%

319 Publications and Subscriptions 73,280 85,322 87,548 78,862 75,000 85,000 7.78%

320 Prof. Publications and Dues 1,145 997 1,224 1,600 1,500 1,600 0.00%

330 Travel & Training 4,119 4,873 5,164 6,000 5,800 6,000 0.00%

350 Operating Supplies 2,140 1,471 2,218 1,500 2,000 2,500 66.67%

380 Equipment/Capital Outlay 0 3,243 0 0 0 3,000 0.00%

381 Shared System Services 15,003 22,872 13,809 18,000 18,000 20,600 14.44%

382 Library Technology 5,654 2,354 1,234 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%

395 Employment Expenses 495 0 137 200 50 200 0.00%

510 Liability/Property Insurance 5,391 4,177 8,005 8,056 8,056 8,060 0.05%

169,219 214,392 209,224 203,693 198,506 228,960 12.40%

742,587 851,170 880,741 899,264 896,870 949,419 5.58%

(110,523) (38,890) 16,620 27,750 35,279 4,094

99,060 (11,463) (50,353) (34,427) (34,427) 852

Donations - assigned fund balance 2016 adjustment 694       
(11,463) (50,353) (34,427) (6,677) 852 4,946

Assigned Funds - Donations
435432 Grants 730 13,730 3,000 310.96%

473200 Library Donations 5,100 5,000 0.00%

0 0 0 730 18,830 8,000 995.89%

322 Donation Expenditures 14,000 3,000 0.00%

331 Grant Expenditures

0 0 0 730 4,830 5,000

0 0 694 694 694 5,524

0 0 694 1,424 5,524 10,524

(11,463) (50,353) (33,733) (5,253) 6,376 15,470Total Library Fund Balance

Revenues - Expenditures

Total

Beginning Assigned Fund Balance

Ending Assigned Fund Balance

Total Expenditures

Revenues - Expenditures

Beginning Fund Balance

Ending Unassigned Fund Balance

Total

Packet Page 39 of 156



2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Beginning Fund Balance 1,842,226 781,690 233,373 268,853 603,446 755,316

Revenues
Property Tax Levy:

  General Projects 20,000 40,000 290,000 335,000 500,000 300,000

  Street Improvements 710,000 200,000 987,000 950,000 950,000 950,000

  Equipment Replacements 220,000 450,000 630,000 600,000 600,000 550,000

  Storm Water Improvements 242,000 225,000 250,000 450,000 485,000 475,000

  Environmental Reserve 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Trust & Agency Transfer 

Cemetery Transfer 7,000

Parks & Playground Transfer 70,000 40,000 275,000 100,000 50,000

General Fund Transfer 100,000 75,000 50,000

Library Impact Fees 52,366
Local Road Improvements 
Grant

42,000

Proceeds from Borrowing 1,387,500
DNR Urban Storm Water Mgt. 
Grant

46,000 33,000 19,500

Donations 750 200,000

Interest Income 10,000 10,000 10,000 12,000 12,000 12,000

Change in Market Value 965 200

Miscellaneous Revenue 61,462

Sale/Rent of Property 20,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000

Total Revenues 1,483,543 2,527,700 2,358,500 2,862,000 2,687,000 2,377,000

Expenditures 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

General Government Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Complex Improvements 48,900 45,000

Cemetery - Rental House 7,000 10,000

City Hall Vehicles

Lincoln Center Improvements

Monopole 34,000 300,000

Total 82,900 307,000 0 10,000 45,000 0

Public Safety 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Police Department Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Squad Cars 80,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000
Computers/Use of Force 
Simulator

15,000

Station Improvements 100,000 90,000

Officer Equipment 3,255

Total 3,255 80,000 235,000 210,000 120,000 120,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Fire Department Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected
Station Improvements 54,579 142,000 170,000
Vehicle Improvements

Total 54,579 142,000 170,000 0 0 0

Capital Improvements
Fund 400

Packet Page 40 of 156



Auxiliary Police/ 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Emergency Management Estimated Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected

Vehicles 30,000 50,000 75,000

Siren Upgrade 22,892 22,000 22,000 22,000

Total 22,892 52,000 22,000 72,000 75,000 0

Total Public Safety 80,726 274,000 427,000 282,000 195,000 120,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Public Works Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Equipment Replacement 309,100 230,000 500,000 385,000 345,000 450,000

Street Improvements 750,000 1,123,000 1,045,000 553,000 907,000 760,000

Stormwater Improvements 250,000 267,276 205,520 510,407 508,130 362,588
Public Works Garage Building 
Project

590,000

Total 1,899,100 1,620,276 1,750,520 1,448,407 1,760,130 1,572,588

Parks, Recreation 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

& Forestry Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Equipment Replacement 225,000 62,000 59,000 82,000 25,000

Park Improvements 8,879 219,000 76,500 30,000 500,000 50,000

Park Equipment 400,000 60,000

Swimming Pool liner 265,000

Senior Van Replacement 25,000

Total 233,879 306,000 135,500 777,000 525,000 110,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Health and Sanitation Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Environmental Expenses 25,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Dams—Engineering/Repairs 15,000 500,000

Total 40,000 510,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Debt Service Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Issuance Costs

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Transfer to Other Funds Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Transfer to Debt Service 200,000 58,741

Transfer to Library 7,474

Total 207,474 58,741 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditures 2,544,079 3,076,017 2,323,020 2,527,407 2,535,130 1,812,588

Revenues - Expenditures (1,060,536) (548,317) 35,480 334,593 151,870 564,412

Ending Fund Balance 781,690 233,373 268,853 603,446 755,316 1,319,728

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Fund Balance Estimated Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected

Uncommitted $228,284 $40,484 $46,984 $51,984 $118,984 $370,984
Economic Development 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086
Environmental 322,267 99,767 99,767 99,767 99,767 99,767
Equipment Replacement (23,314) 29,686 10,686 3,686 68,686 78,686
Street Improvements 145,626 22,626 6,626 403,626 446,626 636,626
Storm Water Improvements 38,000 28,724 92,704 32,297 9,167 121,579
Library 58,741 0 0 0 0 0
Encumbrances

Total Fund Balance $781,690 $233,373 $268,853 $603,446 $755,316 $1,319,728

Packet Page 41 of 156



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE: November 13, 2017                                                             ITEM NO:  9. A. 

 

TITLE: Consider award of engineering design contract for the 2018 Street and Utility Project; and action 

thereon. 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: Staff requested proposals from a total of four engineering consulting firms for design of 

the 2018 Street and Utility Project. A detailed Request for Proposal (RFP) was sent to each firm, and the scope 

of work has been well defined. Three of four firms submitted responsive proposals, and the lowest overall fee 

for service was submitted by M-Squared Engineering of Cedarburg. A summary of the proposal fees is included 

with your agenda. 

 

The 2018 project includes the reconstruction of Tower Avenue, Chatham Street, Montgomery Avenue, Balfour 

Street, St. James Court, Poplar Avenue from St. Anne Street to Washington Avenue, Drury Lane, Hampton 

Avenue and Court, Harrison Avenue from Coventry Street to Washington Avenue, Coventry Court, and 

Kingston Court.  All of these streets will receive new asphalt pavement and base from curb to curb, with spot 

replacement of defective concrete sidewalk and curb. Most of the existing catch basins will be replaced and a 

segment of storm sewer in Tower Avenue will be relayed.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends award of the engineering design for the 2018 project to 

M-Squared Engineering. Their fee of $34,965.00 was the lowest, they are a local company, and they 

successfully completed engineering services for the street project the last few years.  

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION, OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: The Public Works and Sewerage 

Commission will consider this item at their November 9
th

 meeting. Their recommendation will be forwarded to 

the Common Council.     

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: $34,965 split proportionately between the streets capital, storm water capital, 

sanitary sewer reconstruction fund, and Light and Water budgets. The vast majority of work in this project, 

however, is street related. 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Summary spreadsheet of Engineering proposal fees and copy of RFP.                                

                 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Tom Wiza 

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Tom Wiza-Director of Engineering and Public Works 

                                                                262-375-7610 
 
 
 
 

 

Packet Page 42 of 156



Packet Page 43 of 156



Packet Page 44 of 156



Packet Page 45 of 156



Packet Page 46 of 156



Packet Page 47 of 156



Packet Page 48 of 156



Packet Page 49 of 156



Packet Page 50 of 156



Packet Page 51 of 156



Packet Page 52 of 156



 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-23 

An Ordinance Repealing and Recreating Sec. 5-2 of the City of Code of Ordinances 

FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION CODE 

 
The Common Council of the City of Cedarburg does hereby ordain as follows: 

 SECTION 1.  Sec. 5-2 of the Municipal Code of the City of Cedarburg is hereby deleted and 

recreated as follows: 

 

CHAPTER 2 
CITY OF CEDARBURG 

FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION CODE 

 

INDEX 
 

ARTICLE A 
General Provisions; Adoption of Codes 

5-2-1  Fire Prevention Code; General Requirements 

5-2-2  Scope 

5-2-3  Enforcement Officials 

5-2-4  Inspections 

5-2-5  Plan Reviews and Approvals 

5-2-6  Investigation of Fire Incidents 

5-2-7  Additional Codes Adopted 

5-2-8  Permits Not Required 

5-2-9  Enforcement and Penalties 

5-2-10  Appeals 

 

ARTICLE B 
Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems 

 

5-2-11  Scope 

5-2-12  General Requirements 

5-2-13  Installation Requirements for Automatic Sprinkler  

                         Systems 

5-2-14  Fire Department Access 

5-2-15  Occupancy Permit 

 

ARTICLE C 
Standpipe and Hose Systems 

 

5-2-30  Scope 

5-2-31  General Requirements 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 53 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE D 
Smoke and Heat Detection Systems 

 

5-2-40  Scope 

5-2-41  Residential Occupancies 

5-2-42  General Requirements for All Other Occupancies 

5-2-43  Where Fire Alarm Systems Are Required 

5-2-44  Installation Requirements 

5-2-45  Maintenance and Testing 

5-2-46  False Alarms 

 

ARTICLE E 
Required Access for Fire Apparatus 

 

5-2-50  Scope 

5-2-51  Access for Fire Apparatus 

5-2-52  Designated Fire Lanes 

5-3-53  Unapproved Fire Lanes 

5-2-54  Fire Lane Parking Regulated 

 

ARTICLE F 
Fire Hydrants Required 

 

5-2-60  Scope 

5-2-61  Fire Hydrants 

5-2-62  Blocking of Fire Hydrants Prohibited 

 

ARTICLE G 
Hazards to Life and Property 

 

5-2-70  Scope 

5-2-71  Storage of Junk, etc. Prohibited 

5-2-72  Regulation of Fireworks 

5-2-73  Buildings Damaged by Fire 

5-2-74  Key Vault Required 

5-2-75  Open Burning 

5-2-76  Tents 

5-2-77  Smoking Prohibited Conditions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 54 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE A  

General Provisions; Adoption of Codes  

SEC. 5-2-1 FIRE PREVENTION CODE: GENERAL REQUIREMENTS.  

Title. This Chapter shall be known as the City of Cedarburg Fire Prevention Code. This Code  

adopts NFPA 1 - Fire Prevention Code of the National Fire Protection Association, as the same may  

from time to time be amended, and its incorporated standards and codes as published in the National  

Fire Codes of the National Fire Protection Association, the State of Wisconsin Department of  

Safety and Professional Services and listed in Appendix A of the NFPA Fire Prevention Code, 

except those portions which are amended by Section 5-2-8 of this Chapter. At least one (1) current  

copy of NFPA 1 - Fire Code of the National Fire Protection Association, and the  

provisions of the National Fire Codes shall be filed in the Office of the Fire Prevention Bureau.  

SEC. 5-2-2 SCOPE.  

The provisions of this Fire Prevention Code shall apply equally to both public and private property  

and shall apply to all locations, except as otherwise specified. This Chapter shall be deemed an 

exercise of the police powers of the City for the preservation and protection of public health, peace,  

safety and welfare and all provisions of this Fire Prevention Code shall be liberally construed for that  

purpose.  

SEC. 5-2-3 ENFORCEMENT OFFICIALS.  

(a) The Fire Chief shall be responsible for the enforcement of the Fire Prevention Code. The 

Fire Chief may appoint inspectors or delegate authority to other Department members from 

time to time as necessary.  

(b) It shall be the duty of the Fire Chief or his designee to enforce all laws and ordinances of    

the Fire Code for the' City of Cedarburg to include the following:  

(1) The prevention of fires;  

 (2) The storage, sale and use of combustible, flammable or explosive materials;  

 (3) The installation and maintenance of automatic suppression, fire alarm and other fire 

protection equipment;  

 (4) The means and adequacy of exits in case of fire from factories, schools, hotels, 

lodging houses, multiple-family dwellings, hospital, churches, halls, theaters, 

amphitheaters and all other places in which persons work, live, or congregate, from 

time to time, for any purpose;  

 (5) The investigation of the origin, cause and circumstances of fires;  

 (6) The maintenance of fire cause and loss records.  

 

SEC. 5-2-4 INSPECTIONS.  

(a) The Fire Chief or his designee shall have authority to inspect all premises on a periodic basis 

and shall enforce the applicable laws and ordinances.  

(b) The Chief of the Fire Department, or any subordinate designated by him, may, at all  

reasonable hours, enter any building or premises within his jurisdiction for the purpose of  

making any inspection, or investigation which, under the provisions of this code, he or they  

Packet Page 55 of 156



 

 

 

may deem necessary to be made. Private dwellings shall not be entered without the consent  

or permission of an adult occupant.  

(c) (1) Whenever any inspector finds in any location combustible or explosive matter,     

dangerous accumulations of rubbish, flammable material, obstructed means of exit, or 

obstructions liable to interfere with the operations of the Fire Department in case of 

fire, the inspector shall order the remedy of any of these conditions. This order shall 

be complied with by the owner or occupants of such location.  

(2)  The service of any such order may be made upon the occupant of premises to whom it 

is directed, either by delivering a copy of same to such occupant personally or  

leaving it with any person in charge of the premises or, in case no such person if  

found upon the premises, by affixing a copy thereof in a conspicuous place on the  

door to the entrance of said premises. Whenever it may be necessary to serve such  

an order upon the owner of premises, such order may be served either by delivering  

to and leaving with the said person a copy of the said order or, if such owner is  

absent from jurisdiction of the officer making the order, by mailing such copy by  

certified mail to the owner's last known post office address.  

(d) Before permits may be issued under this Chapter, the Fire Chief or his designee shall inspect  

and approve all locations, equipment and fixtures for such uses.  

(e)  The Fire Chief or his designee shall keep a record of all inspections with all facts concerning  

  the same.  

(f) Fire Inspection Fees. 

 (1) An annual Fire Prevention Inspection Fee shall be charged to the property owner for 

the required inspection of each building, structure and premises in the city. The fee 

will be charged to the building owner based on the square footage of the entire 

building in question, not based on individual occupancy grouped in each structure. The 

fee for the required semi-annual fire inspection shall be as follows: 

  
  Square feet      Fee per year 

  Under 1,000 square feet    $15 per year 

  1,001-5,000 square feet    $25 per year 

  5,001-10,000 square feet    $50 per year 

  10,001-20,000 square feet    $75 per year 

  20,001-30,000 square feet    $125 per year 

  30,001-40,000 square feet    $150 per year 

  40,001-50,000 square feet    $175 per year 

  50,001-75,000 square feet    $250 per year 

  75,001-100,000 square feet    $350 per year 

  Over 100,000 square feet    $500 per year 

 

            (2) All City-owned municipal buildings shall be exempt from this fire prevention 

inspection fee. 

    

(3) Fire prevention inspection fees shall constitute a special charge against the property 

under §66.0627, Wis. Stats., as amended, and shall be invoiced to property owners in 

July of each year.  Any fees remaining unpaid as of November 1 of each year shall be 

placed on the annual tax roll for collection as a special charge together with an 

administrative charge of $15 per parcel.  All proceedings related to the collection of 
real estate taxes shall apply. 

Packet Page 56 of 156



 

 

 

SEC. 5-2-5 PLAN REVIEWS AND APPROVALS 

(a) Plan Review Requirements. For any building construction or alterations, one (1) copy of 

complete plans and specifications, including site plans, shall be submitted to the  

Cedarburg Fire Department for review and approval. Plans will be conditionally approved  

and stamped, indicating the person reviewing the plans with the approval date. The Cedarburg 

Building Inspection Department will submit plans and sign off sheets to the Cedarburg Fire 

Department, upon conditional approval of the sign off sheet returned to the Building 
Inspection Department and plan set is retained by the Cedarburg Fire Department 

(b) No automatic sprinkler, smoke/heat detection, alarm system or other fire protection equipment 

required by this Chapter or other provisions of applicable local or State codes shall be 

installed, altered, or relocated until plans have been reviewed and approved by the Cedarburg 

Fire Department. Cedarburg Fire Department requires at least two (2) sets of state approved 
plans and specifications to be submitted for review. 

(1) Plans. Plans shall contain all required equipment locations, floor plan, key vault 

location, sprinkler riser diagram, and complete electric schematic. 

(2) Calculations. Calculations for all required equipment and sprinkler piping is needed. 

Also required is the method of calculation for flows, pipe sizing, area of coverage, 

equipment capabilities, and placement. These calculations shall be signed and sealed 

by the engineer, designer, or plumber responsible for the plans and calculations. 

(3) The Fire Chief may require further information or calculations as necessary for 

approval. 

 

SEC. 5-2-6 INVESTIGATION OF FIRE INCIDENTS 

(a) The Fire Chief or his designee shall immediately investigate, or cause to be investigated, the  

origin, cause and circumstances of every fire incident occurring in the City of Cedarburg. 

(b) When the Fire Department has not responded or been summoned to a fire incident, the fire  

incident shall be reported by the property owner in writing to the Fire Chief or his designee  

within twenty-four (24) hours of its occurrence. Such written report shall be submitted as  

prescribed by the Fire Chief or his designee and shall contain a statement of all facts relating  

to the origin, cause and circumstances of such fire incident, the extent of damage and such  
other information as may be required by the Fire Chief or his designee. 

(c) The Fire Chief or his designee shall keep a record of all fires with all facts concerning the 
same. 

SEC. 5-2-7 CODES ADOPTED 

(a) National Codes Adopted. The appendices of the NFPA 1 - Fire Prevention Code of  

National Fire Protection Association, as the same may be from time to time amended, are  

hereby included as a part of the City of Cedarburg Fire Prevention Code except those  

portions which are deleted, modified or amended by this Chapter. The same are hereby  

adopted and incorporated as fully as if set out in length. Each of the following codes and  

standards published by the National Fire Protection Association are adopted in their entirety  

as a supplement and addition to the text of this Fire Prevention Code: 

(1)  The edition of each of the following codes to be enforced shall be determined by those 
adopted by the State of Wisconsin. 

Packet Page 57 of 156



 

 

 

CODE STANDARD GENERAL SUBJECT  

NFPA 1 Fire Code  

NFPA 10 Standard for Portable Fire Extinguishers  

NFPA 13 Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems  

NFPA 

13D 

Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems in 

One- and Two-family Dwellings and Manufactured 

Homes 

 

NFPA 13R Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems in 

Low-Rise Residential Occupancies 

 

NFPA 14 Standard for the Installation of Standpipes and Hose 

Systems 

 

NFPA 20 Standard for the Installation of Stationary Pumps for 

Fire Protection 

 

NFPA 22 Standard for Water Tanks for Private Fire Protection  

NFPA 24 Standard for the Installation of Private Fire Service 

Mains and Their Appurtenances 

 

NFPA 25 Stand for the Inspection, Testing, and Maintenance of 

Water-based Fire Protection Systems 

 

NFPA 30 Flammable and Combustible Liquids Code  

NFPA 

30A 

Code for Motor Fuel Dispensing Facilities and Repair 

Garages 

 

NFPA 33 Standard for Spray Application Using Flammable or 

Combustible Materials 

 

NFPA 54 National Fuel Gas Code  

NFPA 58 Liquefied Petroleum Gas Code  

NFPA 70 National Electrical Code  

NFPA 72 National Fire Alarm and Signaling Code  

NFPA 80 Standard for Fire Doors and Other Opening Devices  

 

(b) State Codes Adopted. 

 (1) The current issues of the following orders and codes of the Wisconsin Administrative 

Code, Rules of the Department of Safety and Professional Services, are hereby adopted 

by reference and made part of the City of Cedarburg Fire Prevention Code: 

  a.  Chapter SPS 307 – Explosives and Fireworks 

b.  Chapter SPS 314 – Fire Prevention 

c.  Chapter SPS 316 – Electrical 

d.  Chapter SPS 328 – Smoke Detectors and Carbon Monoxide Detectors 

e.  Chapter SPS 340 – Gas Systems 

f.  Chapter SPS 361-366 – Commercial Building Code 

g.  Chapter SPS 375-379 – Buildings Constructed Prior to 1914 

h.  Chapter SPS 381-382 – Plumbing 

 (2) Whenever the provisions of the aforementioned codes conflict, the stricter 

interpretation shall apply. 

 (3) Copies of each of said codes shall be maintained on file in the office of the Fire 

Prevention Bureau of the Fire Department of the City of Cedarburg and shall remain 

so filed and be, at all reasonable times, open to inspection by any interested person. 

 

Packet Page 58 of 156



 

 

 

SEC. 5-2-8 RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE 

SEC. 5-2-9 ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES 

It shall be unlawful for any person to violate the requirements set forth in this Chapter. Any person in 

violation of this Chapter are subject to the penalties as outlined in Section 1-1-7 and Section 1-2-1 of 
the Municipal Code. 

SEC. 5-2-10 APPEALS 

(a) The Board of Appeals of the City of Cedarburg is authorized to hear and decide appeals where 

it is alleged there is error in any order, requirement, decision, or determination concerning the 

Fire Prevention Code and its enforcement as set forth in subsection (c). 

(b) Alleged violations of and issues pertaining to the State Building and Fire Code SPS 314 and 

361-366 shall be appealed to the State of Wisconsin Building and Safety Division. 

(c) The following decisions of the Fire Chief, his designee or the Fire Prevention Bureau may be 

appealed to the Board of Appeals: 

 (1) The rejection of an application for any required permit, certificate of approval. 

 (2) The revocation of an permit or certificate previously issued. 

 (3) Conditions for approval of plans for construction or for the issuance of an 

occupancy permit. 

 (4) Any lawful order from the Fire Inspector 
 

 

 

  

Packet Page 59 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE B 

Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems 

SEC. 5-2-11 SCOPE 

The provisions set forth in this Article shall apply to all sprinkler systems, new and existing, within  

the City of Cedarburg. These requirements are in addition to the State and NFPA standards. The  

intent of this section is to provide a means for the automatic extinguishment of fires in buildings or  

parts of buildings which because of their size, construction or occupancy or lack of suitable  

protective equipment constitute a special fire hazard to life or property and an excessive burden upon  

the fire extinguishing facilities of the Fire Department. 

SEC. 5-2-12 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Automatic sprinkler systems shall be installed and maintained in operable condition set forth in this  

Article. The State Building Code SPS 361-366 shall apply to all new buildings and existing  

buildings within the City of Cedarburg as it pertains to automatic fire sprinkler systems. 

(a) Installation. The installation of any automatic fire sprinkler systems shall be completed in  

accordance with NFPA 13, 13R or 13D, as the same may be amended from time to time, and 

SPS 362.0903. 

(b) Maintenance and Testing. All sprinkler systems shall be maintained and tested in accordance 

with NFPA 25. 

(1) Annual Test Requirements/Inspection. A licensed sprinkler technician shall test and  

inspect the automatic sprinkler system at least annually. A copy of the inspection  

report shall be forwarded to the office of the Fire Prevention Bureau to be kept on file. 

 

When existing sprinkler systems are to be tested or are temporarily taken out of service 

for repairs, the contractor or owner shall notify the Fire Department Dispatch  

Office and the Central Dispatch Monitoring Service prior to the sprinkler being taken  

out of service.  

(2) New Test Requirements. All new sprinkler systems shall be tested and inspected  

prior to the building being occupied. A formal inspection by the Fire Department shall 

be conducted prior to placing the system in service. Testing and inspection shall 

conform to the requirements below: 

a. The sprinkler system shall have a hydrostatic test performed in the presence 

of a Fire Department inspector. 

b. The sprinkler system shall be tested by flows of the main drain and 

inspector’s test valve. The acceptance test shall be conducted by the installer 

in the presence of a Fire Department inspector. 

c. The installer shall provide 48 hours advanced notice to the Fire Department 

prior to any test being conducted. Work shall not be covered if concealed 

prior to the required inspection. 

(3) Inspections. The Fire Department shall be given 48 hours advanced notice for all 

sprinkler system installation inspections. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 60 of 156



 

 

 

SEC. 5-2-13 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 

 

Buildings equipped with an automatic fire sprinkler system shall be provided with a standard key 

vault of a type approved by the Fire Department as further outlined in Section 5-2-74 of this 

ordinance. Building owners shall provide keys for the vault for all areas of the building, with the 

exception of security vaults. 

 

SEC 5-2-14 THROUGH SEC 5-2-29 RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE 

 

  

Packet Page 61 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE C 

 

Standpipe and Hose Systems 

 

SEC. 5-2-30 SCOPE 

 

Standpipe and hose systems shall be installed and maintained in operable condition in all  

occupancies and locations set forth in this Chapter.  

 

SEC. 5-2-31 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

(a) Standpipe and hose systems shall be installed in accordance with NFPA 14 - Standards for 

Installation of Standpipe and Hose Systems. 

(b) Maintenance and Testing. All standpipe and hose systems shall be maintained in  

accordance with NFPA 25. 

 (1) Annual Test Requirements/Inspections. A licensed sprinkler technician shall test and 

inspect the standpipe and hose system at least annually. A copy of the 

inspection report shall be forwarded to the Office of the Fire Prevention 

Bureau to be kept on file. Existing standpipe and hose systems that are under 

test or are taken out of service for repairs shall have the sprinkler 

tester/installer notify the Fire Department prior to the standpipe or hose 

system being temporarily taken out of service.  

 (2) New Standpipe and Hose System Test Requirements. All new standpipe and hose  

systems shall be tested and inspected prior to the building being occupied. 

Testing and inspection shall conform to the requirements below:  

a. The standpipe and hose system shall have a hydrostatic test performed in the  

presence of a Fire Department inspector.  

b. The standpipe and hose system shall be tested in accordance with NFPA 14.  

The acceptance test shall be conducted by the installer in the presence of a  

Fire Department inspector.  

c. The installer shall provide 48 hours advanced notice to the Fire Department  

prior to any test being conducted. Work shall not be covered or concealed  

prior to the required inspection.  

d. A final inspection by the Fire Department shall be conducted prior to placing  

the system in service. 

 

SEC. 5-2-32 THROUGH 5-2-39 RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Packet Page 62 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE D 

 

Automatic Fire Detection and Alarm Systems 

 

SEC. 5-2-40 SCOPE 

 

To provide early warning in the event of fire, automatic fire detection systems shall be installed and  

maintained in operable condition in all occupancies and locations within the City of Cedarburg as  

set forth in this Article. These requirements are in addition to the minimum standards of the adopted  

Wisconsin State Building Codes and NFPA standards for their proper installation and use.  

 

SEC. 5-2-41 RESIDENTIAL OCCUPANCIES 

 

Smoke detectors shall be UL listed for residential applications and be installed in accordance with  

NFPA 72. Installation practices shall conform to all local and State of Wisconsin codes and to the 

National Electrical Code.  

(a) All new and existing one and two family dwelling units shall have smoke detectors installed 

per SPS 321.09 and in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations and 

specifications.  

(b) In new multi-family residential construction, smoke detectors shall be AC powered from a  

non-switched circuit, or from a battery operated source continuously charged from an  

unswitched AC circuit. A non-switched circuit is one which has no intervening switches  

between the circuit breaker panel or fuse box and the smoke detector.  

(c) Prior to a certificate of compliance being issued by the office of the Building Inspector, an 

inspection must be completed of the installation of a smoke detector in accordance with this  

Section. The Building Inspector or his designee shall assist the Fire Prevention Bureau in 

obtaining compliance in all one and two family dwellings. 

 

SEC. 5-2-42 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL OTHER OCCUPANCIES 

 

(a) NFPA Standards Compliance. For all occupancies other than residential dwelling units,  

the term "Fire Alarm System" shall mean a Protective Signaling System installed in  

accordance with NFPA 72. 

(b) Requirements for Annunciator Panels. In all new and existing buildings over 10,000  

square feet or having more than one story, the fire alarm system shall be separated into 

zones with a minimum of one zone for each floor, the attic, the basement and a separate 

zone for all pull stations. Exemptions would be multi-family residential, Section 5-2-

43(3)(a).  

(c)  Central Station Monitoring Service Compliance. A central monitoring service shall  

comply with NFPA 72. The central monitoring service is subject to prior approval by the Fire 

Prevention Bureau.  

(d)  Agency Listings. All equipment shall bear the UL marking or other recognized listing and  

testing agency and shall be clearly marked on the equipment. All detectors shall be listed for  

commercial applications.  

 (e)  Exception for Buildings with Sprinklers. Any building in this classification (except hotels, 

motels, and bed and breakfast inns) which have a sprinkler system installed throughout in 

accordance with NFP A 13 shall be exempt from the requirements for a Fire Alarm System 

unless required by State of Wisconsin Commercial Building Code SPS 361-366. 

Packet Page 63 of 156



 

 

 

 

 In partially sprinklered buildings, any area not protected in accordance with NFPA 13, 13R 

or 13D shall have a Fire Alarm System installed in accordance with this Article. 

 

SEC. 5-2-43 MAINTENANCE AND TESTING 

(a)  Installation Inspection. An Acceptance Test conforming to NFPA 72 shall be  

performed before acceptance of the Fire Alarm System by the Fire Prevention Bureau.  

Arrangements shall be made with the Fire Prevention Bureau with at least 48 hours advance 

notice given.  

(b)  Periodic Testing. Periodic testing of the Fire Alarm System and detectors is required with  

the frequency, procedures, and test methods specified in NFPA 72. Monthly tests are 

required for the Fire Alarm Control Panel.  

(c)  On-site Record of Testing. The owner of each building which requires a fire alarm system  

shall post a record of periodic testing showing the date and person performing the test. This  

record shall be located at the fire alarm panel or other location approved by the Fire Prevention 

Bureau.  

(d)  Corrective Maintenance Requirements. No Fire Alarm System may be allowed to remain  

in a non-functioning condition. Nonfunctioning panels, circuits, devices, or trouble  

conditions indicated by the supervisory monitoring function of the fire alarm control panel  

shall be corrected immediately.  

SEC. 5-2-44 FALSE ALARMS 

Further regulation on private alarm systems in addition to this Chapter is detailed in Title 5, Chapter  

4 of the City of Cedarburg Code of Ordinances.  

SEC. 5-2-45 THROUGH SEC. 5-2-49 RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE. 

 

  

Packet Page 64 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE E 

Requirements for Fire Apparatus 

SEC. 5-2-50 SCOPE 

This article shall apply to all access or fire lanes on public or private property within the City of  

Cedarburg. Additional requirements may be further outlined in the City of Cedarburg Zoning  

Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, or the State Building Code. When required by the Fire  

Prevention Bureau, hard surfaced driving lanes shall be provided around facilities which, by their  

size, location, design or contents warrant access which exceeds that normally provided by the  

proximity of city streets.  

SEC 5-2-51 ACCESS FOR FIRE APPARATUS 

(a)  Suitable Access. All premises, public or private, which the Fire Department may be called  

upon to protect in case of fire and which are not readily accessible from public roads shall  

be provided with suitable gates, access roads and fire lanes so that all buildings on the  

premises are accessible to fire apparatus. The Fire Prevention Bureau may require that areas  

specified for use as driveways or private thoroughfares shall not be used for parking. These  

areas, when specified, shall be marked or identified by one of the two means detailed in 5-  

2-72(a).  

(b)  Fire Lanes. Fire lanes shall be provided on public or private property devoted to public use  

and for all buildings used for human habitation or occupancy. Fire lanes may also be  

designated on those private roadways where it is found by the Fire Prevention Bureau that  

such access is necessary for fire apparatus.  

(c) Surface. Fire lanes shall be either asphalt or reinforced concrete, 4 inches thick minimum, or 

when specifically authorized by the Fire Prevention Bureau, compacted crushed rock may be 

used. Where fire lanes connect to city streets or parking lots, adequate clearances and turning 

radii shall be provided. Fire department access roads shall be designed and maintained to 

support the imposed loads of fire apparatus and shall be provided with an all-weather driving 

surface.    

(d)  Width. Lanes shall provide a minimum, unobstructed continuous width of 12 feet and height 

of 13 feet 6 inches.  

(e)  Dead-end Road. Any dead-end road more than one hundred fifty (150) feet long shall be  

provided a turn-around at the closed end of the roadway. Turn-arounds can be T -type or  

hammerhead, cul-de-sac or curved driveway.  

(f)  Turning Radius. The turning radius of a fire department access road shall be approved 

by the Cedarburg Fire Department. Curves and turnarounds shall be designated for a 

minimum of a forty (40) foot turning radius. 

 

SEC. 5-2-52 DESIGNATED FIRE LANES 

 

(a)  Lanes shall be identified by a 4-inch-wide line and block letters 2 feet high, painted in the  

lane, at 50-foot intervals stating "FIRE LANE - NO PARKING". Signs shall be posted on  

or immediately next to the curb line, or on the building. Signs shall be a minimum of 12" by  

18" and shall have letters and background of contrasting colors, readily readable from at least  

a 50-foot distance. Signs shall be spaced not further than 50 feet apart. Signs shall be  

Packet Page 65 of 156



 

 

 

mounted a minimum of 4 feet and a maximum of 6-1/2 feet from the pavement to the bottom  

edge of the sign.  

(b)  Proposed fire lane designations intended to satisfy the requirements of this Article must be  

approved by the Fire Department and the Plan Commission.  

(c)  It shall be unlawful for any person(s) or firm(s) to post a fire lane sign without the approval  

of the Fire Department or the Plan Commission. 

 

SEC. 5-2-53 UNAPPROVED FIRE LANES 

Fire lane signs posted without the approval of the Fire Department shall be removed or the fire lane  

shall be formally established and posted as required by this Chapter.  

 

SEC. 5-2-54 FIRE LANE PARKING REGULATED 

(a)  Fire Lane Parking. Any vehicle that is parked within a fire lane designated and marked in  

accordance with Section 5-2-62 may be removed at the vehicle owner's expense. Vehicles  

will be towed away under the following circumstances:  

 (1)  When a vehicle repeatedly violates the fire lane regulations by habitually parking in a 

fire lane.  

 (2)  When a vehicle blocks the ingress/egress of a business, theater, night club, apartment  

complex, gymnasium or a place of public assembly.  

 (3)  When a vehicle's presence threatens the safety of the public by impeding the ability  

of fire apparatus and or emergency medical equipment to respond to an emergency.  

 (4) Removal of a vehicle under such circumstances may be authorized by the person in  

lawful possession of the property or by the Fire Chief or their representative. The 

Police Department may order the towing of a vehicle at any time that the above 

circumstances exist.  

(b)  Stopping in Lane. Vehicles will be permitted to stop in a fire lane for a reasonable period  

of time as determined by the Fire or Police officials while actively loading or unloading  

provided the driver is present.  

(c)  Obstructions Other Than Vehicles. An inspection report with warning notice shall be  

issued to the property owner, occupant or responsible party requiring that if an obstruction  

in a fire lane is not removed within a specified time period, the Department may cause the  

removal of the obstruction with the cost of removal billed to the person(s) responsible for the  

obstruction.  

(d)  When It Becomes Necessary to Obstruct a Fire Lane, i.e. Construction Remodeling or  

Repair. Written approval shall be required and permission obtained from the Fire  

Department in any circumstance in which is it necessary to temporarily obstruct a fire lane.  

A copy of the authorization shall be posted at the site.  

(e)  Enforcement. Vehicles parked in fire lanes shall be cited with a notice of violation on a  

standard Wisconsin Citation or Cedarburg Parking Citation enforceable under 10-1-61 of the  

Cedarburg Code of Ordinances.  

 

SEC. 5-2-55 THROUGH SEC. 5-2-59 RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE. 

 

  

Packet Page 66 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE F 

 

Fire Hydrants Required 

 

SEC. 5-2-60 SCOPE 

 

The requirements of this article shall apply to all required fire hydrants installed on private property.  

These requirements apply to all buildings constructed or altered after the effective date of this  

revision of the Cedarburg Fire Prevention Code. 

 

SEC. 5-2-61 FIRE HYDRANTS 

(a)  Where the municipal water system is available, any portion of a commercial, residential, or 

industrial building more than three hundred (300) feet from the municipal fire hydrants, the 

owner shall install at his expense approved hydrants. The setback distance shall be 

determined by measuring the travel distance from a municipal hydrant, along the centerline 

of a municipal street, private road or parking area suitable for travel by fire apparatus.  

(b)  Hydrants determined to be necessary in accordance with Subsection (a) shall be freestanding 

and shall be installed not more than fifty (50) feet or less than twenty-five (25) feet from the 

building. One (1) hydrant shall be located at the main entryway to such building or complex. 

Additional hydrants shall be provided around the perimeter of the building or 'complex so no 

hydrant is more than four hundred (400) feet from any other approved hydrant as described in 

Subsection (a).  

(c)  For new construction, hydrants required by this Chapter shall be installed and made operable 

prior to permitting construction to progress beyond the footing and foundation stages.  

(d)  All private water lines between the municipal water main and approved hydrants shall be no  

less than six (6) inches inside diameter.  

(e)  All water mains, hydrants and their location shall be approved by the Fire Department and 

Cedarburg Light and Water Commission. The hydrants shall be installed in such a manner and 

location so as to be accessible at all times to the Fire Department.  

 (f)  All water mains and hydrants shall be installed, inspected and tested in compliance with the 

standards of the City of Cedarburg and Cedarburg Light and Water Commission.  

(g) All hydrant installations shall have a 5 foot fiberglass hydrant marker installed 

meeting Cedarburg Light and Water Utility specifications. The Fire Department shall 

approve the installation to assure proper access. 

SEC. 5-2-62 BLOCKING OF FIRE HYDRANTS PROHIBITED.  

(a)  No person shall park any motor vehicle within ten (10) feet of any fire hydrant or otherwise  

interfere with the accessibility of any fire hydrant by piling, dumping or placing any other  

obstructive material or object with ten (10) feet of a fire hydrant without first obtaining  

written permission from the Fire Department. Every day during which such interference  

continues' shall constitute a separate offense.  

 (b)  Any vehicle that is blocking a fire hydrant in accordance with Section 5-2-61 may be  

removed at the vehicle owner's expense. Vehicles will be towed away under the following  

circumstances:  

 (1)  When a vehicle repeatedly violates the fire hydrant regulations by habitually blocking  

Packet Page 67 of 156



 

 

 

a fire hydrant.  

 (2)  When a vehicle blocks the ingress/egress of a business, theater, night club, apartment  

complex, gymnasium or a place of public assembly.  

 (3)  When a vehicle's presence threatens the safety of the public by impeding the ability  

of fire apparatus and/or emergency medical equipment to respond to an emergency.  

 (c)  Removal of a vehicle under such circumstances may be authorized by the person in lawful.  

possession of the property or by the Fire Chief or their representative. The Police Department  

may order the towing of a vehicle at any time that the above circumstances exist.  

 

SEC. 5-2-63 THROUGH SEC. 5-2-69 RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE. 

 

  

Packet Page 68 of 156



 

 

 

ARTICLE G  

Hazards to Life and Property  

 

SEC. 5-2-70 SCOPE.  

 

It is the intent of this Article to prescribe regulations consistent with recognized standard practice  

for the safe-guarding to a responsible degree of life and property from the hazards of fire and  

explosion arising from the storage, handling and use of hazardous substances, materials and devices,  

and from conditions hazardous to life and property in the use or occupancy of buildings or premises.  

SEC. 5-2-71 STORAGE OF JUNK, ETC. PROHIBITED.  

The storage of junk shall be regulated per Sec. 11-3-5 of the Cedarburg Code of Ordinances.  

SEC. 5-2-72 REGULATION OF FIREWORKS.  

The sale, use, storage and discharge of fireworks shall be regulated through the licensing provisions  

of Title 7, Chapter 8, of this Code of Ordinances. See Sec. 7-8-1 for further regulations.  

  

SEC. 5-2-73 BUILDINGS DAMAGED BY FIRE.  

 

(a)  If the Fire Chief finds any building and its contents are damaged by fire to a point in which  

the structure and contents present a health or life safety hazard to the public, orders shall be  

issued to the owner to abate such hazard through repair or removal of the building and/or its  

contents. Such orders shall include a time period to complete abatement of such hazard to  

extend no more than sixty (60) days.  

(b)  After sixty (60) days, the Fire Chief can order the building and contents removed to an  

appropriate landfill site. The owner of the property will be held responsible for any expenses  

incurred.  

(c)  Written request for extension of the time permitted to complete ordered repairs or removal 

shall be submitted to the Fire Chief within forty-five (45) days after the fire. The written  

request must contain the following information:  

 (1) The reason compliance cannot be completed within the sixty (60) day limit.  

(2)  The projected date the repairs are to start, type of repairs to be conducted and  

projected date repairs are to be completed.  

SEC. 5-2-74 KEY VAULT REQUIRED.  

 

(a) A key vault, of a type to be approved by the Fire Chief or their designee, shall be required on 

all new buildings, with the exception of one- and two-family dwellings. The required key 

vault shall be placed at an easily accessible location on the building to be approved by the 

Fire Chief or their designee. 

(1) For groups of separate buildings that share a common owner or manager, a written 

request can be submitted to the Fire Chief, or their designee, for approval to utilize a 

single key vault for the group of buildings at a location approved by the Fire Chief or 

their designee. 

(2) Written appeals can be submitted to the Fire Chief or their designee for any request to 

Packet Page 69 of 156



 

 

 

be exempt from the requirements of this code. These appeals will be reviewed by the 

Fire Chief or their designee for either approval or denial.  

(b)  Properly identified and up-to-date keys to gain access to the building and the building fire 

protection systems and features shall be maintained in the key vault. When a change of  

locks within the building is necessary, the Fire Inspector shall be notified and new keys shall 

be provided to be placed in the key vault.  

(c)  Removal of any key by other than Fire Department personnel shall be in violation of this  

Section. 

 

SEC. 5-2-75 OPEN BURNING,  

(a)  All Trash Burning Prohibited. No person shall kindle or cause to be kindled any trash fire  

in or upon any street, alley, public way, park or any public or private ground within the City  

of Cedarburg.  

(b)  Trash Defined. Trash is defined as rubbish, grass, leaves, branches, plastic, construction  

waste, paper products, industrial waste or any other type of debris.  

(c) Open Burning is prohibited. Outdoor fires within the corporate limits of the City of 

Cedarburg are prohibited except as set forth below. 

  (1)  No grills or devices used for outdoor fires for cooking are authorized to be used 

above the first story of any building on a balcony, raised porch or platform, etc.  

  (2)  Recreational Fires. 

(a) No recreational fires may be started or allowed to continue burning unless 

such recreational fire is fully contained within an approved fire pit or outdoor 

appliance. 

(1)  An approved fire pit is any below ground dug pit not greater than 36 

inches inside diameter (inside edge of the pit to inside edge); lined 

with non-combustible material, soil, metal or stone; a minimum of 6 

inches deep; and ringed on the outer diameter with stone, brick or 

concrete. 

(2)  An outdoor appliance is any commercially available appliance 

designed to contain a wood fire when operated according to 

manufacturer’s instructions with all lids, screens and spark arresting 

devices in place; or permanent structure built entirely of non-

combustible materials designed with spark arrestors and screens to 

contain a wood fire. 

(b)  No fire pit shall be closer than 25 feet from any dwelling, building, structure, 

shed or garage or closer than 10 feet from any wood fence, deck or 

combustible material. Commercially available outdoor appliances shall not be 

within 10 feet of any structure or combustibles; all recreational fires are to be 

set back a minimum of 6 feet from adjoining property lines. 

(c) No recreational fires shall be started or allowed to continue burning when the 

wind direction or wind speed will cause embers or other burning material to 

be carried onto any building or combustible material; nor any time wind 

direction will carry smoke into open windows of any building. Smoke from 

any recreational fire shall not create a nuisance for neighboring properties and 

fires shall be completely extinguished when police or fire department 

investigation determines a nuisance is present. 

(d) Fuel for outdoor recreational fires shall consist of natural wood or 

manufactured fire log material only and may not include leaves, rubbish, 

Packet Page 70 of 156



 

 

 

garbage, trash, construction materials, any materials made of or coated with 

rubber or plastic, leather or petroleum based materials. Flammable or 

combustible liquids may not be used to aid in starting any outdoor fire. 

Flammable or common/standard dry kindling materials may be used to aid in 

starting any outdoor fire. 

(e) Recreational fires shall be consistently attended and supervised by a 

competent person at least 18 years of age until the fire has been completely 

extinguished. The means of extinguishing any fire (as deemed necessary by 

the Fire Chief) must be kept immediately available at all times when a 

recreational fire is burning. Proper fire extinguishing equipment includes: a 

garden hose, shovels, water buckets or an ABC rated fire extinguisher at least 

10 lbs. capacity. 

(f) Any party who starts or maintains a recreational fire that is allowed to burn 

out-of-control shall be held responsible for paying any costs associated with 

fire control efforts to extinguish the fire. 

   (g)  Recreational fires shall be permitted only from 11 a.m. to 11 p.m.  

SEC. 5-2-76 TENTS.  

(a) Tent Permit Required. No tent exceeding one thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet  

in area shall be erected, maintained, operated or used without a permit.  

 (b) Fire Watchers to be Employed. One (1) or more qualified persons to service as fire  

watchers shall be employed by all circuses, carnivals or other exhibitions where large crowds 

assemble. They shall familiarize themselves with all fire protection facilities and fire  

prevention features and with the condition of exits and shall patrol the entire tent area during  

the time of occupancy. They shall see that aisles and exit ways are kept open and that "No  

Smoking" rules are enforced.  

 (c)  Tents for Assembly to Conform to Recognized Safe Practices. The design, construction,  

flame proofing, location, maintenance and use of tents for assembly shall be in accordance  

with recognized safe practices. Compliance with the American Standard of Outdoor  

Assembly, Grandstands and Tents, as adopted by the National Fire Protection Association,  

shall be considered as prima facie evidence of compliance with such recognized safe  

practices.  

SEC. 5-2-77 SMOKING PROHIBITED CONDITIONS.  

 

The Fire Prevention Bureau may designate no smoking areas as further outlined in Sec. 8-1-8 of the 

City of Cedarburg Code of Ordinances.  

 

 

 
  

Packet Page 71 of 156



 

 

 

  SECTION 2.  This ordinance shall take effect upon its passage and publication as provided 

by law. 

 

 Passed and adopted this 13th day of November, 2017. 

 

 

              

        Kip Kinzel, Mayor 

 

 

Countersigned: 

 

       

Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

       

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney 

Packet Page 72 of 156



Packet Page 73 of 156



Packet Page 74 of 156



Packet Page 75 of 156



Packet Page 76 of 156



Packet Page 77 of 156



Packet Page 78 of 156



Packet Page 79 of 156



Packet Page 80 of 156



Packet Page 81 of 156



Packet Page 82 of 156



Packet Page 83 of 156



Packet Page 84 of 156



Packet Page 85 of 156



Packet Page 86 of 156



Packet Page 87 of 156



Packet Page 88 of 156



Packet Page 89 of 156



Packet Page 90 of 156



Packet Page 91 of 156



Packet Page 92 of 156



Packet Page 93 of 156



Packet Page 94 of 156



Packet Page 95 of 156



Packet Page 96 of 156



Packet Page 97 of 156



Packet Page 98 of 156



Packet Page 99 of 156



Packet Page 100 of 156



Packet Page 101 of 156



Packet Page 102 of 156



Packet Page 103 of 156



Packet Page 104 of 156



Packet Page 105 of 156



Packet Page 106 of 156



Packet Page 107 of 156



Packet Page 108 of 156



Packet Page 109 of 156



Packet Page 110 of 156



Packet Page 111 of 156



Packet Page 112 of 156



Packet Page 113 of 156



Packet Page 114 of 156



Packet Page 115 of 156



Packet Page 116 of 156



Packet Page 117 of 156



Packet Page 118 of 156



Packet Page 119 of 156



Packet Page 120 of 156



Packet Page 121 of 156



Packet Page 122 of 156



Packet Page 123 of 156



Packet Page 124 of 156



Packet Page 125 of 156



Packet Page 126 of 156



Packet Page 127 of 156



Packet Page 128 of 156



Packet Page 129 of 156



Packet Page 130 of 156



Packet Page 131 of 156



Packet Page 132 of 156



Packet Page 133 of 156



Packet Page 134 of 156



Packet Page 135 of 156



Packet Page 136 of 156



Packet Page 137 of 156



Packet Page 138 of 156



Packet Page 139 of 156



Packet Page 140 of 156



Packet Page 141 of 156



Packet Page 142 of 156



Packet Page 143 of 156



Packet Page 144 of 156



Packet Page 145 of 156



Packet Page 146 of 156



Packet Page 147 of 156



Packet Page 148 of 156



Packet Page 149 of 156



Packet Page 150 of 156



Packet Page 151 of 156



Packet Page 152 of 156



Packet Page 153 of 156



Packet Page 154 of 156



Packet Page 155 of 156



Packet Page 156 of 156


	Agenda 11-13-17
	Agenda 11-14-17 - Special Meeting
	CC Minutes 10-30-17
	Blue Sheet - Budget Changes 2018
	Budget Documents
	1 - TAXLEVY 18
	2 - Revenues and Expenditures Summary 18
	3 - Revenues 2018
	4 - Dept Exp 2018
	5 - Library 2018 revised
	6 - Capital Improvements 2018

	Blue Sheet - Street & Utility Project
	Street & Utility Project Proposals
	Street & Utility RFP
	Ord 2017-23 - Fire Code
	Bills
	CA Report 11 09 17
	Third Quarter Financial Report 2017
	Building Inspectors Report - October



